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Europe Energy S.p.A is a ‘società per azioni’ (company limited by shares) established in 2007.

This financial report has been drawn up in accordance with international accounting standards, even though the parent 
company has prepared its financial statements by applying Italian accounting standards, as usual.

The following image shows the companies that make up the Europe Energy S.p.A. Group as of 30/09/2020:

As of the closing date of the financial year, the geographical distribution of our customers in Italy was as follows:

EUROPE ENERGY
Holding srl

100% 71,18%

100%

100% 35% 30%

EUROPE ENERGY SPA

E-NERGIA
GAS & POWER SRL

ROMANIA
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SERBIA
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GAS & POWTER d.o.o.

SLOVENIA
LE TRADING AS

- Network for Trading Serbia

- Energia Gas and Power Montenegro

- Le Trading Bosnia Herzegovina

- Energia Gas and Power Albania

- Energia Gas and Power Macedonia

- Energia Gas and Power Georgia

- Energia Vanzare Srl

Matteo
Ballarin



6

Europe Energy

During the current financial year, trading activities have continued to mature, undergoing a gradual strategic change to become 
a perfect logistic platform, allowing us to trade electricity and gas anywhere in Europe. We thus intend to seize as many oppor-
tunities as possible that are presented to us by the European end-customer market. 
To date, Europe Energy S.p.A. operates on all major continental market platforms, whether they be official Power Exchange 
points or OTC brokerage platforms. 
Our geographical coverage of the market, either directly or through subsidiaries and/or associated companies, now stretches 
from Great Britain to Turkey and from Spain to Ukraine. To date, Europe Energy S.p.A. represents one of the most well-distri-
buted and well-developed logistic platforms in Europe.
Countries where Europe Energy is able to trade electricity:

Countries where Europe Energy is able to trade gas:
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Supply points in Italy increased from 76,567 as of 30 September 2019 to 107,547 as of 30 September 2020 (+40%). This 
increase to the customer base over the course of the year was not affected by any extraordinary transactions. 69,613 of these 
supply points refer to electricity and 31,675 to natural gas. In addition, there are the customers in the new sectors of fibre 
optic cable and mobile phone services, which registered significant results for the first time, amounting to 4,352 and 1,907 
respectively as at year-end.

Countries where Europe Energy is active in the retail market:

CORPORATE STRUCTURE
The share capital of Europe Energy S.p.A. is divided into 5,000,000 shares, each with a nominal value of Euro 1. As of today, 
all shares are held by Europe Energy Holding S.r.l. (a single shareholder company).
No changes have occurred in the corporate management system adopted, which continues to be ‘traditional’.

COMPANY BODIES
Board of Directors
Chair
Matteo Ballarin
Managing Director
Antonio Schiro

Board of Statutory Auditors
Stefano Breno - Chair
Tommaso Zanini
Federico Grigoli

Independent audit firm 
EY S.p.A.
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Euro/000 Figures at 
30/09/20 % Figures at 

30/09/19 %

     

Revenues and income 625,726 978,382

Cost of raw materials -580,888 -946,948

Gross margin 44,837 100% 31,434 100%

Personnel costs -5,285 -12% -6,023 -19%

Other operating costs -24,019 -54% -15,060 -48%

EBITDA 15,533 35% 10,351 33%

Depreciation of tangible assets and amortisation 
of intangible assets

-12,136 -27% -4,442 -14%

EBIT 3,396 8% 5,909 19%

Income and expenses from equity investments 768 2% 428 1%

Financial management -604 -1% -870 -3%

Profit before taxes 3,561 8% 5,468 17%

Taxes -1,076 -2% -2,032 -6%

RESULT FOR THE YEAR 2,485 6% 3,436 11%

The company recorded a pre-tax profit of Euro 3,561 thousand (Euro 5,468 thousand as of 30/09/2019) and EBITDA of Euro 
15,277 thousand (Euro 10,351 thousand as of 30/09/2019), with the net profit for the year amounting to Euro 1,424 thou-
sand (Euro 3,436 thousand as of 30/09/2019).
Total revenues and income amounted to Euro 625,726 thousand (Euro 978,382 thousand as of 30/09/2019).

Since the first months of 2018, sales to end customers outside of Italy have continued to grow, through the direct subsidiaries 
in Romania, Slovenia and Serbia. 
As of 30/09/2020, these companies count:

- E-nergia Gas & Power S.r.l. Romania: 5,009 active gas customers and 3,964 active electricity customers, for a total of 8,973 
supply points;
- E-nergia Gas & Power D.o.o. Slovenia: 883 active electricity customers;
- E-nergia Gas & Power D.o.o. Serbia: 4,993 active electricity customers;

The result for the year is shown below (along with the percentage weighting of individual items on the gross margin):

The significant reduction in turnover is mainly down to the decrease in dispatching services on behalf of third parties, which 
had been forecast and reported on in the explanatory notes to the previous year’s financial statements. As these services have 
an extremely small margin, their reduction did not have a significant effect on the gross margin. Sales to end users also de-
creased, partly due to a general decline in consumption by customers during the lockdown period (especially by sole traders 
and industrial customers), but above all due to the performance of energy commodity prices in supply markets, which was also 
extremely volatile. We would like to highlight the effectiveness of our hedging policies and our implicit search for risk-free so-
lutions, which have led, in addition to the increase in the customer base, to significant improvements in company performance 
in terms of EBITDA, despite the market performance described above. In other words, the continuing focus on retail activities, 
together with the great expertise of our trading floor, represent a winning combination, on which we believe we have effectively 
based our value creation strategy.



10

Europe Energy

Euro/000 Figures at 
30/09/20

Figures at 
30/09/19 Change

Non-current financial liabilities 12,032 1,454 10,578

Long-term net debt 12,032 1,454 10,578

Cash and cash equivalents -8,091 -5,026 -3,064

Other current financial assets -11,034 -7,099 -3,935

Current financial receivables 0 0 0

Current bank payables 42,344 31,350 10,994

Current share of non-current debt 0 0 0

Other current financial liabilities 0 0 0

Current financial lease payables 0 0 0

Short-term net debt/(cash) 23,220 19,224 3,995

NET DEBT 35,251 20,678 14,573

There was a reduction in personnel costs, reaching an appropriate level with respect to the needs of the expanding business 
structure, which is more efficient and streamlined compared with previous years.

Other operating costs increased due to the ongoing investments to consolidate the brand and to adopt processes that are better 
suited to the company’s business volumes. In fact, EBITDA was up by 50% compared with the previous year, a result that ma-
kes us proud of the steps we have taken, especially considering that the financial year in question was marred by the tragedies 
of which we are all aware.

The item “amortisation, depreciation and write-downs” was affected by the fact that this was the first year that customer lists 
were fully amortised, as well as the provisions that were prudentially made, mainly to the credit impairment provision the dy-
namics of which are inevitably linked to the increase in the customer base.

Lastly, the pre-tax profit was affected by a tax burden that was much higher than the theoretical amount, due to certain provi-
sions not being tax deductible.

Margins nonetheless increased with regard to energy and natural gas brokerage (gross margin), thanks to an increasing focus on 
retail activities, supported by the great expertise of our trading floor (we believe this to be a particularly winning combination).

During the reporting period, the company continued to work and invest to affirm and consolidate its presence in European 
markets. Building relationships with leading players and accessing the main European platforms remain strategic milestones 
for development and are being pursued in line with expectations. 

Net debt increased by 70% compared to the previous year (Euro 14,573 thousand), details of which, in terms of structure and 
changes, are provided in the following table:
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Euro/000 Figures at 
30/09/20

Figures at 
30/09/19 Change

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of 
the year 5,026 5,549 -523

Cash flows from operating activities -7,426 -553 -6,873

Cash flows from investment/divestment activities -7,147 -7,075 -72

Cash flows from financing activities 17,638 7,104 10,533

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year 8,091 5,026 3,065

With regard to the NFP, it is necessary to make a distinction between current debt and long-term debt.
In fact, with regard to short-term payables, the level of cash absorption is due to the increase in the end customer portfolio, 
which intensifies purchasing dynamics compared with sales; from a financial point of view, this translates into a cash require-
ment: energy purchases are paid in advance compared with when payments are collected from retail customers. It should be 
remembered that, in the energy market, it is necessary to pay the electricity stock exchange for the raw material during the 
week immediately after the purchase, whereas payments are received from customers according to the normal time frames for 
bills (around the end of the following month). This leads to cash flow needs.
The increase in medium/long-term debt, on the other hand, is due to the need to reorganise the debt structure, finding a new 
balance between short and medium-term debt; the company has decided to speed up this process by opting for the measures 
introduced by Italy’s so-called ‘Cure Italy Decree’: the aim of this is to obtain a better balance between the sources of short-term 
financing and the sources of medium/long-term financing. The NFP/EBITDA ratio remains at an excellent level, equal to 2.27.

During the reporting period, there was once again the need to use part of the liquidity position as a guarantee on lines of credit 
for the issue of sureties in favour of European network operators and electricity suppliers. 
Difficulties continue linked to the rating of the various Italian credit institutions (with just a few exceptions). In fact, their rating 
is often not sufficient to meet the requirements of institutions and/or large counterparties (such as ENI, Enel, Terna, EDF, EOn, 
RTE, etc.), especially not if they are foreign, who demand an investment-grade rating. From an economic point of view, the 
deterioration of conditions in Italy’s credit market over recent years has also led to increasing costs for lines of credit, although 
we are satisfied with the rates obtained for medium/long term loans.

Security deposits paid by the company to guarantee electricity and natural gas purchases amounted to a total of Euro 2,239 
thousand (Euro 2,938 thousand as of 30/09/2019).

With regard to cash flows, the table below provides details of cash flows from the reporting period and from the previous year, 
which clearly show the financial dynamics described above:

The table below provides details of the capital structure, in terms of its composition and changes:
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Euro/000 

Figures 
for the finan-
cial year as of 

30/09/20

Figures
for the finan-
cial year as of 

30/09/19

Change

Non-current net assets:    

- tangible and intangible assets 42,242 42,899 -657

- equity investments 4,076 3,766 310

- other non-current net assets/(liabilities) 700 0 700

Total 47,018 46,665 353

Net working capital:

- trade receivables 133,797 271,935 -138,138

- other current net assets/(liabilities) -10,552 3,736 -14,288

- trade payables -112,488 -280,636 168,148

Total 10,758 -4,964 15,722

Gross invested capital 57,777 41,701 16,075

Miscellaneous provisions:

- employee benefits -464 -660 196

- provisions for risks and charges and net defer-
red taxes 

553 826 -273

Total 89 166 -77

Net invested capital 57,866 41,867 15,099

Shareholders’ equity 22,614 21,189 1,425

NET DEBT 35,251 20,678 14,573

With regard to the balance sheet, the stable non-current asset amount reflects the investments made to acquire customers in 
an organic way, and therefore without the use of extraordinary transactions (during the reporting period, this was considered to 
be the most efficient approach, in terms of both costs and processes).
Performance in terms of receivables was mainly affected by the expected reduction in dispatching services on behalf of third 
parties, which represents, inter alia, a benefit in terms of reducing the credit risk. Debt performance was naturally in line with 
this. Performance of the other net working capital items was, as usual, significantly influenced by the fair value valuations of 
the open trading positions on the market as at the precise closing date of the financial year. In this regard, a different timing 
is to be noted from year to year, depending on the prevalence of positions that were already closed and completed during the 
year compared with open positions valued at fair value. 
The company’s equity covers 39% of the net capital invested (51% at 30/09/2019). Shareholders’ equity increased due to the 
effect of the positive result for the year, while the increase in net debt is due to working capital dynamics, as better explained 
in the comments regarding cash flows.
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The reporting period was largely characterised and conditioned by the Covid-19 pandemic, the negative effects of which were 
felt at both the close of the financial year and as at the date of approval of these financial statements. Over the course of the 
year, various countries (including Italy) tackled the health emergency by partially or fully closing down non-essential manu-
facturing companies, commercial businesses and service providers, in order to contain the spread of the contagion. The virus 
had an immediate impact on the global economy, which was in recession for the whole of 2020. The health emergency has 
significantly worsened the macroeconomic scenario, with repercussions on both demand for and the prices of electricity and 
gas, not to mention the possible deterioration of counterparties’ solvency. There is still a significant level of uncertainty and risk 
surrounding short-term economic forecasts. The main risk refers to a worsening of the pandemic, which would require stricter 
public health measures, consequently leading to a more serious and longer-lasting impact on the economy. Other potential risks 
refer to possible trade tensions and financial market tensions. Over the last few months, the US economy has performed better 
than the estimates made at the start of the economic-health crisis, despite being one of the countries that has been worst hit in 
terms of contagion. GDP growth forecasts went from -6.5% in June to -3.7% in September. After extremely poor performance 
in the second quarter (GDP at -9.1% compared with the previous quarter), positive signs were recorded in terms of industrial 
production, which returned to growth thanks to economic policy to support domestic demand; the effects of this exceeded 
expectations, also thanks to part of household consumption being reallocated from the sectors worst hit by the crisis to diffe-
rent sectors. The labour market is also improving. China’s recovery has also led to improvements in global trade, although this 
nonetheless recorded a significant decline in 2020. As one of the world’s largest commodity consumers, China’s recovery is 
also contributing to increasing the prices of raw materials on international markets, with the exception of crude oil. Industry 
performed less well than services, to the extent that the latter are also growing; overall, this Asian giant is expected to grow by 
around +1.6% in 2020, making it the only major economy in the world to report growth at the end of 2020. In the euro area, 
after the slump in manufacturing caused by the lockdown imposed in all the main European countries, industrial activities 
have now begun to grow again. EU economic policy makers introduced ‘Next Generation EU’ (‘NGEU’), a tool through which the 
European Union intends to make available precious Community resources to offer significant funding opportunities to countries 
that have been worst hit by the pandemic. The main European countries, Italy, France and Spain, adopted the most drastic 
and long-lasting measures to contain the virus, recording a more dramatic drop in GDP compared with Germany, which inste-
ad adopted more short-term restrictions that were not necessarily applicable throughout the whole country. During the third 
quarter of the year, economic indicators showed signs of recovery. In fact, Italy’s GDP confirmed an increase of around 11.4%.
The extraordinary monetary and fiscal measures introduced should allow for a certain degree of stability. However, there are 
some concerns as to how resilient the country will be when these exceptional support measures for manufacturing companies, 
labour and income come to an end; this is mainly because, at the end of the crisis, Italy will have very high levels of public 
and private debt. During the first nine months of 2020, the euro remained stable against the dollar, compared with the same 
period during the previous year.

With regard to the oil markets, the average stock market price of crude oil in FY 2020 amounted to USD 46.4/bbl, down 29% 
compared with the average recorded in FY 2019. Monthly performance was dramatically affected by the Covid-19 pandemic 
and the relative reductions in the contagion. In fact, the first four months of the FY recorded levels of between USD 60 and 
USD 64/bbl, which then severely dropped to a monthly minimum of USD 18.4/bbl in April 2020; this value then gradually 
increased in the subsequent months but never exceeding USD 45/bbl and without reaching the values of the previous year.
The main factors putting pressure on prices during the year included the aforementioned containment measures, trade ten-
sions, excess stockpiles and robust production on the 
US market, in a context of a global economic slowdown, leading to a drop in demand for oil products. In the last months of the 
FY, the price of Brent oil was supported by the agreement reached between Russia and OPEC regarding a cut in production, 
which contributed to containing the excess supply.
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ELECTRICITY

With reference to prices as of 30 September 2020, the average value of the time-weighted average (‘TWA’) for the ‘single na-
tional price’ (in Italian: ‘PUN’) for FY 2020 amounted to Euro 38.7/MWh, down 33% compared with the figure for the same 
period of the previous year (Euro 57.5/MWh). The average for the third quarter of 2020 amounted to Euro 42.3/MWh, up from 
the figure from the previous quarter during the full lockdown (Euro 24.5/MWh), but down compared with the same period in 
the previous year when the average ‘PUN’ for the month amounted to Euro 51/MWh. This reduction was mainly down to the 
drop in gas prices and the lower level of demand for electricity. PUN performance was in line with the prices recorded on the 
French and German stock exchanges. 
Analysing the monthly evolution of the PUN, the most significant fluctuations were recorded in April and May (-53% and -57% 
respectively compared with the same months of the previous year), clearly being affected by the drop in demand. The lowest 
fluctuation was recorded in September compared with the same month of the previous year, equal to -5%. 
The monthly trend compared with the previous year is shown in the graph below: 
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GAS

With reference to the first nine months of the year, demand for natural gas in Italy amounted to 49.77 billion cubic metres, 
down 8.5% (-4.59 billion cubic metres) compared with the same period of the previous year. In addition to the milder tempe-
ratures recorded compared with the same period of the previous year, this drop was also down to the effects of consumption 
resulting from the restrictions in place in March and April, followed by industrial production gradually returning to full capacity 
between May and September. 
In September, natural gas consumption in Italy recorded its second consecutive increase on an annual basis (+1.5%), reaching 
one of the highest levels of the last nine months for the month in question.
The same dynamics were recorded in terms of consumption in the thermoelectric sector, supported by the lower imports of 
electricity, and in the industrial sector (+2%); consumption in the civil sector increased slightly (+0.2%). The higher demand 
for natural gas was absorbed by a reduction in replenishment at storage sites (-29%), while imports continued to fall, especially 
via gas pipelines (-4%); national production also fell (-14%).
End-of-month stock reached the highest levels of the last decade for the month under analysis, the last of the 2019/2020 
thermal year, up 1% compared with the same day of the previous year. On the spot gas markets managed by the GME (Italian 
power exchange), the volumes traded increased to 7.5 TWh, equal to 15% of the total consumed, up from the previous month 
and, above all, on a year-on-year basis (+23%); in both cases, this growth was driven by continuous trading on the MI-Gas (3.7 
TWh) and in AGS segments (1.8 TWh). Spot gas prices, recording the third consecutive increase, reached their highest levels 
since February, in line with PSV dynamics (11.7 €/MWh). 
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Reference is made to the most significant reforms introduced during the reporting period regarding the regulation of the indu-
stry in which the company operates.

Prescriptive proceedings initiated by resolutions 342/2016/E/Eel and 459/2016/E/Eel and subsequent amendments, passed 
by the Authority
Following the results of the investigation, as part of this procedure, the final prescriptive measures were filed, with which the 
Authority verified non-diligent strategies - as part of UC and UP planning - allegedly used by operators to make significant 
margins; by adopting these measures, the operators in question have been ordered (if they have not already done so) to refund 
Terna the amounts deriving from the application of imbalance fees from which they allegedly unduly benefited.
As a last resort, the company lodged an appeal with the Council of State against the 
judgement passed by the Regional Administrative Court (in Italian: ‘TAR’) regarding UC imbalances; following the hearing on 
this matter; the ruling passed by the Council of State was published, which upheld the Company’s main criticism regarding the 
(serious) shortcomings with ARERA’s investigation (and therefore with its justification), which had been raised back at the first 
hearing before the Regional Administrative Court of Lombardy. For the Company, the situation described above means that the 
relative risk ceases to exist (said risk had already been deemed to be remote).

Provisions to strengthen safeguards to the benefit of end customers in the event of amounts being invoiced referring to con-
sumption dating back more than two years - resolution no. 569/2018/r/com of 13 November 2018, as amended or integrated 
by resolution 184/2020/R/com in order to implement the provision laid down by article 1, paragraph 295, of Italian Law no. 
160 of 27 December 2019.
From 1 January 2020, energy and gas customers belonging to the categories indicated by the law and applicable regulations, 
may “in any case” object to amounts invoiced relating to consumption dating back more than two years. This new provision 
was introduced by Italy’s 2020 Budget Law (no. 160 of 2019) and was integrated by the energy Authority as part of an overall 
regulatory framework, adjusting the requirements for information provided to customers and users that sellers and managers 
must include in their invoices, also in the event of any connected formal notice procedures, as well as in the case of a reply to 
written complaints from customers and users in this regard. 
In any case, the distinction between cases in which the delay in invoicing amounts referring to consumption dating back more 
than two years is down to the responsibility of the operator and those in which the delay is down to the end consumer has been 
cancelled. This provision does not have a significant impact.

Resolution no. 300/2019/r/eel of 09 July 2019: urgent amendments to resolution no. 50/2018/r/eel passed by the Authority, 
regarding unpaid general charges, as integrated and amended on 26 November 2019 by resolution no. 495/2019/R/eel
This resolution introduced urgent amendments to resolution no. 50/2018/R/eel regarding unpaid general charges, excluding 
from the calculation of the unpaid receivables any interest charges invoiced to transport customers and revaluing the reinte-
gration amount recognised by the ‘Energy and environmental services fund’ (in Italian: ‘Csea’) to distribution companies at the 
legal interest rate.
This resolution explains that the Authority had received reports of cases whereby distributors had invoiced interest charges 
only after termination of the transport contract and near to the annual expiry date for submitting the request to the Csea to be 
admitted to the recognition mechanism; ARERA stated that such a practice “clearly implies a waiver of the right to apply inte-
rest charges, in line with their widely recognised typical function, i.e. to act as a tool to increase the chances of the debt being 
paid”. This resolution may lead to a significant benefit for the company, which is likely to be seen in the next financial year.

Resolution no. 538/2018/r/gas of 17 December 2019: approval of proposals to update the network code of Snam Rete Gas 
S.p.A. and provisions to launch the gas settlement reform
This resolution approved the proposals to update the network code of Snam Rete Gas, applying the gas settlement reform, by 
implementing provisions to launch said reform as of 1 January 2020 (the date when the amendments to the Snam code will 
come into effect). This resolution provided transitional rules on the application of variance fees regarding the transport capacity 
necessary to provide withdrawals at the ‘city gates’, valid until 31 May 2020. It also stated that, by the end of May 2020, tran-
sport companies must allow users of the balancing service to increase the capacity they have available at the ‘city gates’, valid 
from 1 October 2019, taking this into account when applying the variance fees. Snam Rete Gas may supplement the methods 
it uses to calculate the Wkr coefficient, also on the basis of up-to-date data made available by the integrated IT system manager 
and subject to prior notice being provided to the Authority, also for the purpose of reducing daily fluctuations of the ‘IO delta’ 
share to be supplied compared with the average value. Lastly, the validity of the numerical criteria for the incentives referred 
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to by Art. 9 of the “TIB” (Italian balancing code), defined with resolution no. 480/2018/R/gas, was extended until 19 February 
2020. The company has aligned its operations to the requirements, without any significant impacts.

Italian Decree Law no. 162 of 30 December 2019, as converted into Italian Law no. 8 of 28 February 2020 regarding the 
end of price protection in favour of small-scale end customers for electricity and gas - Resolution no. 491/2020/R/eel of 24 
November 2020; Italian Ministerial Decree of 31 December 2020 and adjustment through resolution no. 28/2021/R/eel 
Paragraph 3 of Art. 12 introduced amendments to Italian Law no. 124/2017 (‘annual law on competition’), stating: i) the 
extension, from 1 July 2020 to 1 January 2022, of the deadline for the termination of price protection for small-scale end cu-
stomers in the gas market; ii) extension of the deadline for said protection in the electricity market for small-sized companies, 
from 1 July 2020 to 1 January 2021, and, for micro-enterprises and domestic customers, from 1 July 2020 to 1 January 2022.
Through resolution no. 491/2020/R/eel, the Authority defined, on the one hand, (A) regulations governing the economic and 
contractual conditions for the service with gradual safeguards, and, on the other, (B) the procedures to assign said service 
starting from 1 January 2021, stating that service providers must be identified through a selection process (during the so-called 
‘standard assignment period’), at the same time as requiring said period to be preceded by a six-month transitional period, 
from 1 January 2021 to 30 June 2021 (so-called ‘temporary assignment’), during which the current operators shall continue 
to provide the service, providing the utmost protection under the conditions laid down by the Authority. 
Upon completion of the procedure to obtain all legally required opinions as per Italian Law no. 124/17, an Italian Ministe-
rial Decree was passed on 31 December 2020 acknowledging the measures adopted by the Authority through resolution no. 
491/2020/R/eel, as mentioned above; this Ministerial Decree identified the criteria and procedures for small enterprises 
affected by the termination of price protection to enter the electricity market, coming into force from 1 January 2021 (the 
so-called ‘moving beyond price protection’ initiative). Lastly, in order to promptly implement the aforementioned Ministerial 
Decree, the Authority passed resolution no. 28/2021/R/eel, reducing the current limit regarding the areas to which a single 
operator may be assigned down to 35% of the total volume assignable. The company has aligned its operations to the require-
ments, without any significant impacts.

Gas settlement: new regulations in force from 1 January 2020
Through resolution no. 148/2019/R/gas and subsequent amendments and integrations, the procedure to implement the gas 
settlement reform, defined by ARERA, is continuing; through the aforementioned resolution, ARERA introduced substantial 
amendments to the previous regulations, coming into force on 1 January 2021, and approved a new ‘Code setting forth pro-
visions governing the physical and economic items of the natural gas balancing service’ (in Italian: ‘TISG’ - ‘Gas Settlement 
Code’). 
After Snam published its first set of financial statements for 2020, a number of anomalies were found with allocation data from 
the ‘SII’ integrated IT system, reflecting the criteria of the new settlement regulations that came into force in 2020. Given the 
potential financial impact of these inefficiencies, the main industry associations promptly reported the issue to ARERA, SNAM 
and the SII integrated IT system, in order to have the errors corrected; these errors would otherwise lead to unjustified variance 
fees and generate significant financial damage for the operators involved. Resolution no. 222/2020/R/gas of 16 June 2020 
introduced a new process to share and check the data used for settlement purposes; this process involves the SII integrated IT 
system, distribution companies, distribution users, balancing users and the head of balancing and aims to detect and correct 
any anomalies. 
ARERA went on to publish an announcement on 28 July 2020, entitled “‘TISG’ Gas Settlement Code: Application of resolution 
no. 222/2020/R/gas”, introducing the possibility for balancing users to ask the head of balancing to correct withdrawal data 
for distribution redelivery points that have successfully passed coherence checks in accordance with a predefined set of with-
drawal exclusion criteria; for this purpose, a dedicated amendment service was provided for, to be carried out by the transport 
companies.
The company has aligned its operations to the requirements, without any significant impacts.

Italian Law no. 160 of 27 December 2019 (2020 ‘Budget Law’): provisions affecting the energy sector
Paragraphs 291, 292 and 293 of Art. 1 of Italy’s 2020 ‘Budget Law’ introduced the following significant changes for the 
energy sector, valid from 1 January 2020: i) sellers of electricity and/or natural gas (falling into the category of “utilities ope-
rators”) are obliged to provide end customers - via registered post with acknowledgement of receipt - with clear and detailed 
notifications of any missing bill payments, informing them that the supply shall be cut off unless the arrears are paid, with due 
notice of no less than forty days; ii) sellers of electricity and/or natural gas - in the event of invoices being issued in relation to 
which the competent authority finds that the seller has acted unlawfully through non-compliance with procedures to duly record 
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consumption, settle outstanding balances or issue invoices, or has charged unjustified expenses and costs for consumption, 
services or goods that are not due, or if such breaches are duly documented through a dedicated declaration, submitted inde-
pendently also via telematic means - must pay the end customer a penalty equal to 10 per cent of the undue amount contested 
by the customer, in addition to the reimbursement of any amounts paid and, in any case, an amount of no less than Euro 100; 
iii) the seller of electricity and/or gas shall reimburse the amounts unduly received or, in any case, unjustifiably charged to the 
end customer in accordance with the previous point ii), as well as paying the relative penalty, by either discounting the amount 
from subsequent invoices, or by making a dedicated payment by a deadline that shall be no later than fifteen days from the 
verification, or from the positive response to the declaration independently sent by the end customer - at the discretion of the 
end customer in question. The company has aligned its operations to the requirements, without any significant impacts.

COVID-19 emergency 
Following a series of legislative measures to manage the national health emergency linked to the Coronavirus (Covid-19) epi-
demic, the Authority approved the following:
- Resolution no. 59/2020/R/com of 12 March 2020, which excluded the obligation to pay automatic compensation in the event 
of ‘force majeure’ for failure to comply with specific and general quality standards.
- Resolution no. 60/2020/R/com of 12 March 2020, as amended by subsequent resolutions (117/20, 124/20 and 148/20), 
which halted suspension and payment reminder procedures linked to customers in arrears, for the period between 10 March 
and 3 May for non-domestic customers and up to 17 May 2020 for domestic customers and those with an annual gas consu-
mption of up to 200,000 sm3. At the same time, the Authority ordered distributors to reactivate supply to customers whose 
supply had been suspended/halted between 10 and 13 March 2020. Formal notice procedures began again on 18 May 2020 
for all customers. 
- Resolution no. 74/2020/S/com of 17 March 2020, which suspended sanctioning procedures that had already been begun or 
were in the process of being launched, until 31 May 2020.
- Resolution no. 75/2020/R/com of 17 March 2020, which temporarily suspended payments for electricity and gas until 30 
April 2020, for the 11 municipalities classed as ‘red zones’.
- Resolution no. 76/2020/R/com of 17 March 2020, through which ARERA extended the deadlines for customers to submit a 
request to renew their electricity/gas ‘social bonus’, where applicable. ARERA also approved resolution no. 190/20 as a mea-
sure to further benefit customers, which reduced electricity expenses for non-domestic customers with a low voltage supply, for 
the period between 1 May and 31 July 2020. 
- Resolution no. 116/2020/R/com of 2 April 2020, through which ARERA introduced temporary waivers for possible payment 
delays, or partial payments, made by sellers vis-à-vis the distributors for electricity transportation and gas distribution invoices 
issued in April, May and June:
- for sellers, it postponed the actions provided for to protect distributors’ receivables;
- for distributors, it stated that they could pay the general system expenses to CSEA (‘Energy and environmental services fund’) 
and to GSE (‘energy services manager’) at the minimum percentage of 80% of invoiced expenses (90% for invoices issued in 
June), or at a higher rate if a higher amount had been collected from sellers. 
With regard to the use of credit rating as a guarantee for distribution/transport contracts, this resolution also stated that any 
rating downgrades due to the Coronavirus emergency would not prevent companies from using their rating as a guarantee, as 
long as said rating remains above a certain level. 
- Resolution no. 192/2020/R/com of 28 May 2020, which extended the waivers introduced by resolution no. 116/2020/R/
com until June 2020 and, at the same time, initiated a procedure to define the procedures and time frames for settlement 
payments, by electricity transport and natural gas distribution users, for the total invoiced amount not collected by distributors 
between 1 April 2020 and 30 June 2020.
- Resolution no. 248/2020/R/com of 30 June 2020, which completed the aforementioned procedure, stating that each user 
had the possibility to choose whether to make a single payment to settle the amount due, or to pay via an interest-free quarterly 
instalment plan with equal instalment amounts, starting from September 2020.
The company has complied with all provisions for the respective periods of validity and has opted not to benefit from the re-
duction in payments for system expenses.

Resolution no. 219/2020/R/com of 16 June 2020 - amendment to formal notice regulations following the provisions made by 
Italian Law no. 160 of 27 December 2019 and adjustments to the indemnification system 
This resolution altered regulations concerning formal notice procedures and the indemnification system, following the provi-
sions introduced by Italy’s 2020 ‘Budget Law’. 
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With regard to formal notice rules, sellers are obliged to send formal notice to end consumers, with reference to all unpaid bills, 
by sending a written notification to be sent via registered post with acknowledgement of receipt or via ‘PEC’ (certified e-mail). 
At least 40 calendar days must pass from the date when formal notice is received in writing, as per the above, before the order 
can be given to suspend supply due to arrears. 
With reference to the indemnification system, its scope of application - in the electricity sector - was extended also to customers 
with a medium voltage supply and the duration of the outstanding potential based on which the indemnity is calculated was 
also updated, taking into account the extension of the formal notice time frames pursuant to Italy’s 2020 Budget Law. The 
company has aligned its operations to the requirements, without any significant impacts.

Resolution no. 261/2020/R/eel of 07 July 2020 - Update to the ‘Network code for electricity transport services’ and subsequent 
amendments and integrations, with resolution no. 490/2020/R/eel of 24 November 2020 and resolution no. 583/2020/R/eel 
of 22 December 2020
Through resolution no. 261/2020/R/eel, ARERA amended the rules laid down by the ‘Network code for electricity transport ser-
vices’. The most significant amendments include: (i) removal of the payment reminder procedure; (ii) reduction of the time fra-
me for the distributor to caution the user, down to four working days; (iii) reduction of the ‘GAR’ amount to the estimated value 
of two months of service provision for each withdrawal point in the transport contract; (iv) reduction of the maximum amount of 
the GARMAX guarantee, equal to the estimated value of four months of service provision for all withdrawal points in the user’s 
transport contract; (v) confirmation that due payments shall only be measured in relation to ‘cycle’ invoices and ‘adjustment’ 
invoices and, when checking due payments, payment delays will not be taken into consideration unless they exceed an average 
of 4.5 days (weighted for the amounts), and (vi) removal of the payment delay condition with reference to individual invoices.
With regard to the periodic adjustment of guarantees, the Authority altered the tolerance thresholds for increasing guarantees 
based on the GAR amount.  Furthermore, for users who submit their credit rating as a guarantee, the obligation was introduced 
to also submit an additional guarantee in one of the traditionally accepted forms if there is a significant increase in the points 
served, only in relation to the new withdrawal points in the contract (GARnewPOD); subsequently, if the user is up-to-date with 
its payments for six consecutive months and its credit rating is not downgraded during the same period, then it may request 
that its GARnewPOD amount be guaranteed using its credit rating.  Lastly, the Authority also introduced provisions stating, 
inter alia, that only insurance sureties issued by Italian insurance institutions, or insurance institutions authorised to work in 
Italy in accordance with the law, would be accepted; it also stated that said institutions must have a credit rating equal to or 
above BBB- if issued by Standard & Poor’s Corporation or by Fitch Ratings, Baa3 if issued by Moody’s Investors Service or B+ 
if issued by A.M. Best. The company has aligned its operations to the requirements, without any significant impacts.

Resolution no. 316/2020/R/GAS of 4 August 2020. Approval of the proposals to update the network codes for Snam Rete Gas 
S.p.A. and Società Gasdotti Italia S.p.A. 
Resolution no. 316/2020/R/gas approved the proposals to amend the network codes for Snam Rete Gas and Società Gasdotti 
Italia (SGI) regarding financial guarantees for transport services and, only with reference to SGI, also regarding the early ter-
mination of the transport contract in the event of failure to pay or loss of the requirements necessary to access the service. 
Snam’s proposal involves extending the predefined guarantees that users may submit for the transport service, by introducing a 
non-interest-bearing security deposit as a guarantee for the user’s exposure. With regard to SGI, in addition to the introduction 
of a non-interest-bearing security deposit, Fitch Ratings were also added to those already provided for, and the provisions were 
eliminated that previously allowed users without an adequate credit rating or guarantee letter issued by a parent company not to 
provide bank guarantees for annual exposures of less than Euro fifty thousand. SGI also provides for the possibility to terminate 
the transport contract early in the event of failure to pay even only one invoice and if one or more of the requirements to access 
the service is no longer met and this situation is not remedied within seven days. The company has aligned its operations to 
the requirements, without any significant impacts.

LEGISLATIVE CHANGES AFTER 30 SEPTEMBER 2020
Resolution no. 426/2020/R/com of 27 October 2020, provisions to strengthen information obligations in the ‘Code of Com-
mercial Conduct’ to the benefit of end customers in the retail market
Through this resolution, the Authority introduced new obligations for sellers, altering the ‘Code of Commercial Conduct’ with 
regard to information obligations before and after entering into a contract; these new obligations shall come into force on 1 
July 2021. 
In particular, in relation to the pre-contractual phase, ARERA introduced a summary data sheet differentiated by type of con-
sumer (domestic or non-domestic) and by type of service (fixed price or variable price); this data sheet must summarise the 
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compulsory information relating to the supply, in a standard and easy-to-understand format. 
Once the contract has been signed, notifications of unilateral changes to the terms and conditions have been made even more 
efficient; said notifications must still be sent three months in advance and must now also include an estimate of annual expen-
ses (net of duties and taxes) for the 12 months following the change, based on consumption levels and making reference to the 
Supply Portal.  The Authority also confirmed the introduction of a requirement to send information, two months in advance, re-
garding any automatic changes to the economic terms and conditions provided for in the contract, as well as the need to inclu-
de an estimate of the annual expenses resulting from such changes in said notification. The ‘Code of Commercial Conduct’ was 
also made more efficient and updated with a review of the criteria used to present prices. No significant impacts are expected.

Resolution no. 549/2020/R/com of 15 December 2020 - procedure begun to amend regulations governing ‘Bill 2.0’
Through this resolution, the Authority began a procedure to amend regulations governing ‘Bill 2.0’.  In particular, this reso-
lution involved the following updates: (i) integration of the current provisions governing the minimum items to be included in 
a concise bill; (ii) definition of measures to promote a more widespread use of electronic invoices; (iii) standardisation of the 
terminology used in the ‘Bill 2.0’, including the Glossary, in order to make it consistent with applicable legislation on electronic 
invoicing; and, (iv) a guarantee of transparency and simplicity, also in the case of the most innovative contracts, authorised by 
2G smart metering systems or, prospectively, contracts with dynamic prices for electricity. No significant impacts are expected, 
with the only exception being the benefits related to the greater degree of clarity in customers’ invoices.

Resolution no. 3/2021/R/gas of 14 January 2021 - provisions regarding variance fees
Through resolution no. 3/2021/R/gas, ARERA intervened regarding the regulations governing penalties for variances due to 
abnormal withdrawals, in accordance with the provisions of Resolution no. 222/2020/R/gas and the operating procedures 
published by Snam Rete Gas. With regard to these regulations, the Authority pointed out that, based on reports received, a 
number of critical issues had arisen regarding the calculation of variance fees due to allocations to final figures that had been 
calculated based on withdrawals that turned out be anomalies, despite successfully passing consistency checks, and for which 
it would not have been possible for balancing users to request an adjustment.
The head of balancing therefore submitted a proposal (approved by the Authority) for the management of such cases: with 
reference to the period between January and September 2020, balancing users may submit a request for variance fees to be 
recalculated. No significant impacts are expected.

Resolution no. 19/2021/R/gas of 26 January 2021 - approval of a proposal to update the terms and conditions for selling and 
trading natural gas on the ‘Virtual Trading Point’
The aforementioned resolution approved the proposal to update the terms and conditions for selling and trading natural gas on 
the ‘Virtual Trading Point’ offered by Snam Rete Gas. More specifically:
- provisions have been updated regarding the management by the GSE (Energy Services Manager) and regasification companies 
of gas transactions on the Virtual Trading Point, in light of the already consolidated practices; and 
- the functionalities of the Virtual Trading point have been integrated into the management systems that are in the process of 
being upgraded by Snam Rete Gas.
No significant impacts are expected.
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The risk management process is closely tied to the company’s strategic planning process, with the aim of associating the overall 
risk profile to the forecast profit margin in the company’s budget. Please note that, currently, the main risk area is represented 
by the Company’s industry, which has taken on a strongly financial connotation. In this regard, as stated above, the company is 
pursuing a strategy to diversify its business, with reference to both the types of markets and the geographical reference areas.

Market risk

Competitive pressure remains high in the energy markets in which the Group operates. Reference is particularly made to the 
risk of commodity price fluctuations and the risk of the relative volumes fluctuating. 

This risk area is found mainly in the procurement stage, because the Group’s purchases are subject to seasonal fluctuations in 
electricity and natural gas prices, which it tends to limit and reduce through dedicated strategies applied during the purchase 
and hedging stage.

In this context, besides regularly monitoring the trend in prices in the industry, in particular of electricity and natural gas, the 
Group hedges the cost through the acquisition of derivative financial instruments.

The potential risks to which the Group may be exposed are also tied to non-bilateral purchases and/or sales (i.e. commitment 
to purchase energy that is not sold, or vice-versa), or to misaligned electricity and natural gas purchase and selling prices. The 
first risk is avoided through sound management of our contract portfolio, while in the event of the second risk, the Company 
resorts to instruments to manage the risk of prices, referred to as ‘CFD’ (contracts for difference). These contracts enable the 
Company to establish the effects on sales margins, regardless of changes in market conditions. 

Regulatory risk

A potential source of risk is the constant evolution of the legislative and regulatory framework, which affects the market, fee 
plans, the levels of service quality required and technical and operational obligations. In fact, this risk area is tied to the cur-
rent technical complexity of the industry, which requires constant updates to resolutions passed by the different competent 
authorities in the field, both nationally and internationally.

In this regard, Europe Energy S.p.A. has further staffed its legal & compliance department, which now counts three in-house 
lawyers with specific experience in regulatory matters, in order to ensure ongoing monitoring of the regulations governing the 
industry and to promptly implement any changes, working to minimise any resulting economic impact. 

For the same reason, Europe Energy S.p.A. is a member of the EFET (European Federation of European Traders) as well as 
being a member of AIGET (Italian Association of Energy Wholesalers and Traders). Furthermore, it should be highlighted that 
the head of the company’s legal department, Dott.ssa Loredana Pasqualini, is the Vice-President of General Affairs for AIGET.

Interest rate risk

The company is exposed to interest rate fluctuations, especially in terms of financial expenses associated with overall debt.

Europe Energy S.p.A. regularly assesses its exposure to the risk of interest rate changes. Its main objective is to reduce the 
fluctuation in the volatility of financial charges. We have achieved this goal by combining the fixed and variable rate in debt 
structure, if need be, resorting to appropriate hedging.

Credit risk

With reference to the risk of potential losses deriving from non-fulfilment of the obligations taken on by the various counter-
parties with which the Company operates, the latter implemented procedures and tools some time ago to evaluate and select 
counterparties on the basis of their credit standing and to continuously monitor exposure vis-à-vis its various counterparties.

However, exposure to credit risk is mainly linked to the growing commercial activity of selling electricity and natural gas on the 
retail market.

In order to mitigate this risk, the parent company adopted a specific procedure to manage credit risk, and took out a credit 
insurance policy covering all receivables that may be insured.

This operation, besides lowering the risk on current customers, provided more risk assessment tools that drive pre-sales activi-
ties in order to minimise counterparty risk.
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Liquidity risk

The purpose of liquidity risk management is to limit the risk that the company’s available financial resources are not sufficient 
to cover its financial and commercial obligations in line with the predetermined terms and deadlines.

With reference to cash flows, it should be noted that, apart from the price fluctuations that are typical of our line of business, 
no particular financial risks are faced, due to the fact that: 

1. the company made a choice ahead of time regarding wholesale activities, specifying that energy would only be sold to who-
lesale clients, represented mainly by municipal companies or leading operators, that could guarantee timely payments, or to 
counterparties that issue bank sureties;

2. for the sale of electricity and natural gas to end customers, ad hoc pre-sales procedures have been implemented in order to 
avoid the risk of end customers not paying their bills and credit insurance has been taken out for business customers.  Moreo-
ver, all procedures for disconnecting and promptly cutting off supply are duly followed, in line with specific industry regulations.

The strategic goal is to ensure that, at all times, the company is able to cope with its financial obligations for the next twelve 
months.
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The business is developing with an increasing focus on sales to end customers, whether domestic or business (with particular 
attention being paid to holders of VAT numbers, small businesses and SMEs). The WithU brand was presented on 28 May 
2019, which groups together our electricity, gas, mobile phone and internet connection services. The brand was officially lau-
nched on the Italian market during autumn 2019 and the relative services began to be sold.

Consolidation of this brand remains a cornerstone of our development and this shall continue to be the focus of timely initiati-
ves over the next financial year, all aimed at ensuring that the brand is increasingly well-known and recognised.

With regard to internal organisation, important IT developments are expected, such as completion of the migration of the in-
voicing systems to a single platform (already almost completed as at the date of approval of these financial statements), of the 
CRM system and of two systems developed in-house to support customer acquisition processes. 

These important steps shall complete the work that began during the reporting period and during the year before, with the 
first large migration to the new invoicing system combined with the migration of accounting and management control systems.

Foreign companies shall continue to develop in order to begin supplying end customers and shall embark on a path of sustai-
nable and solid growth in terms of new contracts.

Efforts will be made to expand the network of countries where we are present on the retail market, through specific start-ups 
or by acquiring companies.

We expect to see a volatile market, especially due to the international scenarios which are sure to have repercussions on the 
price of raw materials. There will therefore be an even greater focus on hedging policies.

The Group will also continue its short-term activity, i.e. supply with deliveries ranging from single hour (daily and intraday 
markets) up to one month at the most, or OTC transactions with leading counterparties. In fact, contracts are only entered into 
with institutional partners, demanding appropriate guarantees in order to avoid credit risk.

In the coming years, short-term markets, with particular reference to intraday and daily markets, will be the main investment 
focus in terms of know-how and growth for the group as a whole. As of today, these markets are among the most profitable, 
especially in relation to their relative level of risk, having very limited underlying elements in view of their short time span of 
reference. On the other hand, this line of business requires careful monitoring and considerable investments in terms of know-
ledge and understanding of cross-border energy flows and the different dynamics of national production. To successfully tackle 
these challenges, the Group already runs its business seven days a week.

All of the aforementioned activities are included in the group’s business plan, approved by the BoD and subject to continuous 
updates in order to seize the opportunities for growth and development presented by the market.
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Investments

As of 30/09/2020, investments in financial assets amounted to Euro 11,034 thousand (Euro 7,099 thousand as of 30/09/2019); 
these mainly increased due to the interest-bearing short-term loans issued to E-nergia Gas & Power S.r.l. with registered office 
in Bucharest (Romania), for Euro 9,059 thousand.

Legal situation

There are no aspects of the company’s legal situation that require mention.

Research and development

The company carries out research and development activities on an ongoing basis, aimed at identifying new projects in the 
energy industry and, in particular, in the field of energy from alternative sources. The company is also strongly focusing on the 
study of energy market volatility and correlations at transnational level. 

Finally, daily research and development are carried out on the ICT tools developed in-house, in order to improve their effecti-
veness.

Treasury shares or shares held by subsidiaries, associated companies, parent companies and companies controlled by the latter 
companies

As of 30.09.2020, Europe Energy S.p.A. did not hold treasury shares nor shares or stakes in parent companies and nor did it 
hold or negotiate such shares during the financial year closed on 30.09.2019. It also did not order the purchase of any such 
shares during the reporting period or during the following year.

There is therefore nothing to report for the purposes of Art. 2428, paragraph 2, points 3 and 4, of the Italian Civil Code.

Relations with parent companies, subsidiaries, associated companies and related parties

The table below shows the transactions between the company and related parties, as required by Article 2427, paragraph 22-
bis, of the Italian Civil Code.

Please find below a summary, by macro-category, of the relations held during the year with the parent company, Europe Energy 
Holding S.r.l., and with all other subsidiaries and associated companies (a list of which is provided in the equity investments 
section of the following note).

Assets and revenues from parent company Balance at
30/09/2020

Balance at
30/09/2019

Financial receivables 1,260,000 1,200,000

Trade receivables 112,515 71,985

Other revenues and income 1,500 1,500

Financial income (expenses) from group companies 24,345 24,474

Assets and revenues from subsidiaries Balance at
30/09/2020

Balance at
30/09/2019

Financial receivables 9,699,000 5,824,000

Trade receivables 3,243,283 1,134,697

Revenues from sales and services 1,532,813 381,992

Other revenues and income 2,100 703

Financial income (expenses) from group companies 527,498 212,870
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Assets and revenues from associated companies Balance at
30/09/2020

Balance at
30/09/2019

Financial receivables 25,551 74,445

Trade receivables 10,599,416 14,416,255

Revenues from sales and services 9,505,215 23,150,619

Financial income (expenses) from group companies 214,761 190,948

Liabilities and expenses due to parent company Balance at
30/09/2020

Balance at
30/09/2019

Trade payables 59,208 32,914

Other operating costs 20,564 5,729

Liabilities and expenses due to subsidiaries Balance at
30/09/2020

Balance at
30/09/2019

Trade payables 1,268,826 133,475

Cost of raw materials, consumables, goods 1,211,728 46,130

Other operating costs 242,295 440,269

Liabilities and expenses due to associated companies Balance at
30/09/2020

Balance at
30/09/2019

Trade payables 880,382 0

Cost of raw materials, consumables, goods 429,516 0

All transactions with related parties can be classed as ordinary business operations and are governed by standard market con-
ditions, i.e. under the same conditions that would apply between two independent parties. 

Information about the environment

With regard to environmental protection, we believe that the company’s energy trading with wholesalers respects applicable 
energy laws and we therefore do not expect any liabilities in this regard and/or damage to the environment.

Information on the workforce

As of 30 September 2020, the company’s workforce was made up of 72 resources (88 at 30/09/2019), as already highlighted 
in the explanatory notes to which reference should be made.

With reference to the reporting period, the following should be noted:

- there were no injuries or deaths in the workplace for which the company has been conclusively proven to be responsible;

- there were no charges for occupational illness involving employees or former employees for which the company has been 
conclusively proven to be responsible;

- there were no cases of mobbing for which Europe Energy S.p.A. has been definitively declared responsible.

Milan, 19 February 2021

The Chair of the Board of Directors

(Matteo Ballarin)
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Notes 30/09/2020 30/09/2019

ASSETS

NON-CURRENT ASSETS

Tangible assets 1 1,896,053 1,820,202

Land 140,000 430,000

Property 1,051,003 1,265,155

Plant and equipment 19,626 25,431

Vehicles 98,918 1,298

Other property, plant and equipment 586,507 98,317

Intangible assets 2 40,346,091 41,078,821

Patents, trademarks and other rights 557,582 366,018

Customer list 30,748,297 31,672,590

Goodwill 9,040,212 9,040,212

Financial assets 3 4,076,309 3,766,309

Equity investments 4,076,309 3,766,309

Deferred tax assets 4 2,493,358 949,601

Other non-current assets 5 700,000 0

TOTAL NON-CURRENT ASSETS 49,511,811 47,614,932

CURRENT ASSETS

Inventories 6 345,295 992,397

Financial assets 7 11,034,295 7,099,295

Current tax assets 8 3,596,497 1,975,166

Trade receivables 9 133,797,477 271,935,398

Cash and cash equivalents 10 8,090,513 5,026,275

Other assets 11 11,004,642 9,421,644

TOTAL CURRENT ASSETS 167,868,720 296,450,175

TOTAL ASSETS  217,380,530 344,065,107

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

segue >
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Notes 30/09/2020 30/09/2019

SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY AND 
LIABILITIES

SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY

Share capital 5,000,000 5,000,000

Other reserves 15,678,951 12,243,064

Reserve for actuarial gains (losses) -62,719 -63,945

Profits (losses) carried forward 573,804 573,804

Profit (loss) for the year 1,424,179 3,435,887

TOTAL SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY 12 22,614,214 21,188,809

NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES

Non-current financial liabilities 13 12,031,799 1,453,667

Provisions for risks and charges 14 1,685,716 93,521

Staff severance pay and other employee benefits 15 463,856 660,144

Deferred tax liabilities 16 254,832 30,419

TOTAL NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES 14,436,203 2,237,750

CURRENT LIABILITIES

Current financial liabilities 17 42,344,314 31,349,830

Current tax liabilities 18 17,400,254 5,625,542

Trade payables 19 112,487,513 280,635,911

Other liabilities 20 8,098,032 3,027,264

TOTAL CURRENT LIABILITIES 180,330,114 320,638,547

TOTAL LIABILITIES  194,766,317 322,876,298

TOTAL SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY AND LIABILITIES  217,380,530 344,065,107

>
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Notes 30/09/2020 30/09/2019

 

REVENUES AND INCOME 625,725,940 978,382,973

Revenues from sales and services 21 624,370,655 977,402,973

Other revenues and income 22 1,355,286 979,283

OPERATING COSTS 610,193,192 968,030,924

Cost of raw materials, consumables, goods 23 580,888,486 946,948,169

Other operating costs 24 24,019,299 15,059,627

Personnel costs 25 5,285,406 6,023,129

EBITDA 15,532,749 10,351,331

Amortisation, depreciation, write-downs and other 
provisions

26 12,136,254 4,441,885

EBIT 3,396,494 5,909,446

NET FINANCIAL INCOME AND EXPENSES 27 -603,773 -870,034

Income / (Expenses) from equity investments 0 0

Financial income from group companies 28 768,416 428,292

PROFIT (LOSS) BEFORE TAX 3,561,137 5,467,705

Tax expenses / (income) 29 2,136,960 2,031,818

AFTER-TAX PROFIT (LOSS) FROM CONTINUING 
OPERATIONS 1,424,179 3,435,887

INCOME STATEMENT
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STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME 30/09/2020 30/09/2019

NET RESULT 1,424,179 3,435,887

Other components of comprehensive income: 0

A) CHANGES TO THE CASH FLOW HEDGE RESERVE 0 0

- Profit (loss) from valuations during the period 0 0

- Taxes (+/-) 0 0

B) ACTUARIAL GAINS (LOSSES) 1,227 -34,428

- Actuarial gains (losses) 1,227 -34,428

TOTAL OTHER COMPONENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE 
INCOME NET OF TAXES 1,227 -34,428

TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE NET INCOME 1,425,406 3,401,459

Milan, 19 February 2021

The Chair of the Board of Directors
(Matteo Ballarin)
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30/09/2020 30/09/2019

A. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS - OPENING BALANCE

Cash and cash equivalents 5,026,275 5,548,949

TOTAL A 5,026,275 5,548,949

B. CASH FLOW DURING THE YEAR

Profit for the year 1,424,178 3,435,887

Depreciation of tangible assets and amortisation of intangible 
assets

7,735,008 2,781,297

Net change in provisions 4,387,750 (365,317)

Net change in taxes 8,834,037 2,996,772

Change in inventories 647,102 1,030,684

Change in other financial assets (310,000) (857,008)

Change in trade receivables (34,865,715) (177,660,479)

Net change in other assets/other liabilities 2,856,494 7,338,327

Change in trade payables 1,864,622 160,736,954

TOTAL B (7,426,524) (552,883)

C. CASH FLOW FROM INVESTMENT ACTIVITIES

Investments in non-current intangible assets (6,718,347) (6,405,025)

Investments / disinvestments in non-current tangible assets (428,507) (670,061)

Net investments to purchase equity holdings 0 0

TOTAL C (7,146,854) (7,075,086)

CASH FLOW STATEMENT AS OF 30.09.2020

(Amounts in units of Euro)

segue >
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30/09/2020 30/09/2019

D. CASH FLOW FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES

Net change in loans to group companies (3,935,000) (3,088,300)

Non-current financial payables 10,578,132 818,039

Current financial payables 10,994,484 9,375,556

TOTAL D 17,637,616 7,105,295

E. CASH FLOW FOR THE YEAR (B+C+D) 3,064,238 (522,674)

Cash and cash equivalents 8,090,513 5,026,275

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS - CLOSING BALANCE 8,090,513 5,026,275

>

Milan, 19 February 2021

The Chair of the Board of Directors
(Matteo Ballarin)
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Share capital Legal reserve Extraordinary 
reserve Other reserves FTA reserve OCI reserves

Profit (loss) 
carried 
forward

Result for the 
year Total

As at the closing date of the financial 
year - 30.09.2018 5,000,000 724,645 9,813,839 1,935,268 337,426 -29,518 573,804 3,168,291 19,587,755

Allocation of the profit for the year 
ending 30.09.2018

0 158,415 3,009,877 0 0 0 0 -3,168,291 0

OCI entries 0 0 0 0 0 -34,428 0 0 -34,428

Reserve for IFRS 9 credits 0 0 0 0 -760,000 0 0 0 -760,000

Reserve for FTA commissions IFRS 15 0 0 0 0 -1,040,405 0 0 0 -1,040,405

Result for the financial year 
(30.09.2019)

0 0 0 0 0 0 0 3,435,887 3,435,887

As at the closing date of the financial 
year - 30.09.2019 5,000,000 883,060 10,887,716 1,935,268 -1,462,980 -63,946 573,804 3,435,887, 21,188,809

Allocation of the profit for the year 
ending 30.09.2019

0 116,940 3,318,947 0 0 0 0 -3,435,887 0

OCI entries 0 0 0 0 0 1,227 0 0 1,227

Result for the current financial year 
(30.09.2020)

0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1,424,179 1,424,179

As at the closing date of the financial 
year - 30.09.2020 5,000,000 1,000,000 14,206,663 1,935,268 -1,462,980 -62,719 573,804 1,424,179 21,614,214

STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY AS OF 30.09.2020
(Amounts in units of Euro)

Milan, 19 February 2021

The Chair of the Board of Directors
(Matteo Ballarin)
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Form and content of the financial statements
The financial statements that we hereby submit for your approval, which comprise the Statement of Financial Position, the 
Income Statement, the Statement of Comprehensive Income, the Cash Flow Statement, the Explanatory Notes and the Ma-
nagement Report, and which report an after-tax profit attributable of Euro 1,424,179 and shareholders’ equity as of 30 Sep-
tember 2020 of Euro 22,614,214 have been prepared in accordance with the International Financial Reporting Standards 
(IFRS) issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB), based on the text published in the Official Journal of 
the European Union (OJEU).
These explanatory notes are broken down into the following parts:
- part A: Structure and content of the financial statements;
- part B: Assessment criteria;
- part C: New accounting standards, interpretations and amendments
- part D: Other information relevant to the preparation of the financial statements;
- part E: Information on the Statement of Financial Position;
- part F: Information on Income Statement;
- part G: Risk management and other information
With regard to the approval of these financial statements, the company opted to make use of the extension to the normal de-
adline, due to the increase in activities resulting from the accounting and invoicing systems being migrated during the year.

Part A
Structure and content of the financial statements
Following the entry into force of Italian Legislative Decree no. 38/2005, governing the option to prepare financial statements in 
accordance with international accounting standards on the basis of the options provided for in Article 5 of Regulation (EC) no. 
1606/2002 issued by the European Parliament and European Council in July 2002, the company voluntarily adopted these 
accounting standards starting from the preparation of the financial statements as at 30/09/2016.
The accounting statements and information contained in these financial statements have been prepared in accordance with 
international accounting standards IAS 1 and IAS 7, in relation to the Cash Flow Statement; when drafting the latter, the com-
pany applied the international accounting standards and their interpretations in force as of 30 September 2020.
The financial statements have been prepared based on the assumption that the company will continue operating as a going 
concern, as the Directors have verified the absence of financial, managerial or other indicators that could point to critical issues 
regarding the Company’s ability to meet its financial obligations in the foreseeable future. The risks and uncertainties involved 
with the business are described in the relevant section of these Notes.

General principles
The criteria generally applied when accounting for assets and liabilities is historical cost, except for financial instruments 
valued at their fair value pursuant to IFRS 9, as described in more detail below.   Please note that, at the date of transition to 
IAS/IFRS standards, some assets were recorded at their fair value instead of their historical cost.
A description of the layouts used to prepare the financial statements, in accordance with those indicated by the IAS 1 standard, 
is provided below, together with the most significant accounting standards and assessment criteria applied.

Layout of the financial statements
The Income Statement is prepared using the layout that classifies revenues and costs by type of item, highlighting interim 
results relating to EBITDA, operating profit and profit before taxes, so as to provide a more accurate representation of the Com-
pany’s normal trend of business. In fact, the chosen layout is consistent with the Company’s internal reporting and business 
management procedures, and is in line with standard international practices in the energy industry.
The Comprehensive Income Statement includes any changes to ‘Other comprehensive profits/(losses)’ during the year, provisio-
nally recognised under shareholders’ equity.  
The Balance Sheet is prepared in accordance with the format that shows the breakdown of “current/non-current” assets and 
liabilities. An asset/liability is classified as “current” when it meets one of the following criteria:
• it is expected to be realized/extinguished in, or is intended for sale or use during the normal business cycle; or
• it is held primarily for negotiating purposes, or;
• it is expected to be realized/extinguished within twelve months from the closing date of the financial statements.
If none of the above three criteria are met, the asset/liability is classified as “non-current”.
The Cash Flow Statement has been prepared using the indirect method.
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The Statement of Changes in Shareholders’ Equity shows the changes in shareholders’ equity items that refer to:
• allocation of profit for the year;
• amounts referring to transactions with shareholders (purchase and sale of treasury shares);
• all profit and loss items, net of any tax effects, which, as required by the IAS/IFRS, are alternatively charged directly to sha-
reholders’ equity (actuarial gains and losses generated by the valuation of fixed benefit plans) or that have a corresponding item 
in a shareholders’ equity reserve (effect of transactions under common control), the impact of which is then reflected directly 
under shareholders’ equity;
• changes in valuation reserves for derivative instruments used to hedge future cash flows, net of any tax effects;
•the effect of any changes to accounting standards.
For each significant item listed in the above statements, reference is included to these Explanatory Notes, which provide the 
relative information and a detailed description of the structure and changes compared to the previous year.

Part B
Assessment criteria
Tangible assets
Tangible assets are recorded at their purchase, production or transfer cost, including any ancillary charges and direct costs 
necessary to make the asset available for use, and net of any capital grants.
Depreciation plans for tangible assets are calculated based on the assets’ estimated useful life: when this notion of depre-
ciation is applied, it translates into a percentage per year of the useful life of the assets subject to depreciation. The range 
of depreciation rates is shown in the table below (please note that there were no changes to these rates compared with the 
previous year):

Depreciation rate
  

 Plant and equipment  25%

 Electronic office equipment 20%

 Furniture and furnishings 15%

 Vehicles 25%

 Assets worth less than Euro 516.46 100%

Gains and losses from the sale or disposal of assets are calculated as the difference between the sale revenue and the net book 
value of the asset, and are accounted for in the income statement for the given reporting period.
If there are indicators of impairment, non-current tangible assets are subject to an impairment test.  This test is described in 
the paragraph “Impairment of assets”. Any write-downs may be subject to reversal.

During the reporting period, the IFRS 16 standard was applied for the first time to the lease agreements identified. This led to 
the value of the property (the rented office in Milan and leased vehicles) being recorded under tangible assets in the balance 
sheet representing the relative right of use pursuant to IFRS 16 (equal to the current value of the minimum mandatory future 
lease instalments that the lessee must pay starting from 1 October 2019, including prepaid expenses), which shall be depre-
ciated over either the economic-technical life or the residual duration of the contract, whichever is shorter. Likewise, a financial 
payable was also recorded equal to the current value of the minimum mandatory future instalments that the lessee must pay 
starting from 1 October 2020, including accrued expenses not yet settled as at the first application. 
The payable will be subsequently reduced as the lease instalments are progressively paid. 
In the income statement for the reporting period, leasing/rental payments are no longer recorded under EBITDA but, rather, are 
recorded under depreciation for right-of-use and under financial expenses on the payable recorded.

Intangible assets
Goodwill
In the event of companies being acquired, the assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities acquired and identifiable are recorded 
at their fair value as at the date of acquisition. The positive difference between the acquisition cost and the Company’s stake 
in the fair value of these assets and liabilities is classified as “goodwill” and is recorded in the financial statements as an in-
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tangible asset with an indefinite useful life.
Goodwill is not amortised, but is subjected to checks to identify any impairment on an annual basis, or more frequently if 
specific events or changed circumstances indicate possible impairment, in accordance with the IAS 36 standard (Impairment 
of Assets). For more information, please refer to “Impairment of assets” paragraph below.
The original value, however, shall not be restored if the reasons that led to the impairment no longer apply.
After its initial calculation, goodwill is valued at cost, net of any accumulated impairment losses. At the time of selling part 
or the entire company previously acquired and whose acquisition generated goodwill, when calculating the gain or loss on the 
sale, the corresponding residual value of goodwill is taken into account.  
The first time the IFRS were applied, the Company chose not to apply IFRS 3 - Business Combinations - retroactively to ac-
quisitions of companies that took place before 1 October 2014, opting for the exemption provided for by IFRS 1; as a result, 
goodwill generated by acquisitions before the date of transition to the IFRS was kept at the value previously calculated accor-
ding to Italian accounting standards, subject to an audit and calculation of any impairment.
Other intangible assets
Intangible assets with a finite useful life, purchased or produced in-house, are recorded under assets, in accordance with IAS 
38 (Intangible Assets), when it is likely that their use will generate future economic benefits and their cost can be reliably 
measured. These assets are recorded at their purchase or production costs and are amortised on a straight-line basis throu-
ghout their estimated useful life, which shall be reviewed at least once a year; any changes to amortisation criteria are applied 
prospectively. The period of amortisation for non-current intangible assets recorded in the financial statements varies from 
three to five years. 
Intangible assets with a finite useful life are also checked to identify any impairment on an annual basis, or whenever there is 
reason to believe that the asset may have suffered an impairment, in accordance with IAS 36. For more information, please 
refer to the “Impairment of Assets” paragraph below. If the reasons which had justified the impairment no longer apply in 
following years, the asset is restored to its original value, within the limits of the value that the asset would have had if the 
impairment had never taken place.
Other intangible assets resulting from the acquisition of a company are recorded separately from goodwill if their fair value can 
be reliably calculated.

Industrial patent and intellectual property rights
These rights consist of permanent software licences whose amortisation is calculated over three financial years starting from 
the financial year in which the relative cost was incurred.

Concessions, licences, trademarks and similar rights
This item refers to the cost for the fixed-term licence to use the management software for the company’s “core business”, 
subject to amortisation according to a five-year plan starting from the financial year in which the licence began to be used.

Customer list
This refers to the costs to acquire customers, whether these are recorded as part of business combination transactions (IFRS 
3), specific transactions to acquire customer lists (IAS 38), or incremental costs to obtain contracts with customers (IFRS 15). 
The customer portfolio is amortised based on the churn rate, prudently valued over five financial years. If, during an asset’s 
useful life, it is not possible to retrieve the value of the intangible asset through contractual fees, the asset is disposed of and 
transferred to the income statement.

Financial assets
Equity investments
Equity investments in other companies that are classified as non-current financial assets and are not allocated to trading acti-
vities (so-called “available for sale” equity investments) are initially recorded at their fair value, if this can be calculated, and 
gains and losses arising from changes in fair value are recorded directly under shareholders’ equity until they are sold or have 
suffered a loss of value; at that time, total gains or losses previously recorded under shareholders’ equity are accounted for in 
the income statement for the reporting period.
Equity investments in other smaller companies for which no fair value is available, are recorded at cost in the income state-
ment, written down as necessary in the event of any impairment losses. 
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Subsidiaries
Subsidiaries are companies over which the company has the autonomous power to determine their strategic choices in order to 
obtain the relative benefits; generally speaking, control is presumed to exist if the company holds, directly or indirectly, more 
than half of the voting rights that may be exercised in the ordinary shareholders’ meeting.

Associated companies
Associated companies are companies over which the Company exercises a significant influence in determining their strategic 
choices, despite not having control, also considering so-called “potential” votes, i.e. the voting rights deriving from convertible 
instruments; generally speaking, a company is presumed to have a significant influence if it holds, directly or indirectly, betwe-
en 20% and 50% of the voting rights that may be exercised in the ordinary shareholders’ meeting.

Other companies
Other companies are those in which the Company holds less than 20% of the capital or voting rights.

Impairment of assets
At each reporting date, if the conditions are met to do so, the Company reviews the book value of its tangible and intangible 
assets in order to determine whether there is any indication that those assets have suffered impairment (the so-called “Impair-
ment test”), in accordance with IAS 36 (Impairment of Assets). 
The impairment test is used to estimate the recoverable amount of these assets in order to calculate any write-down amount.  
If it is not possible to estimate the recoverable amount of an asset individually, the Company estimates the recoverable amount 
of the cash generating unit,  or “CGU”, to which the asset belongs.
The recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs of disposal and value in use of the asset or of the CGU.  
The value in use of an asset or of a CGU is equal to the current value of the expected cash flows, calculated by applying a 
discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset.  Future 
cash flows refer to those expected over a given time span of between three and five years, as well as those taken from the last 
year of the time span used to estimate the final value.  
The long-term growth rate used for the purpose of estimating the final value of the cash-generating unit is taken to an extent 
not exceeding the average rate of long-term growth in the industry, country or market where the asset or the cash-generating 
unit operates.
The value in use of the asset or CGU in a foreign currency is estimated in local currency by discounting these flows on the basis 
of an appropriate exchange rate for said currency. The current value obtained in this way is converted into euro on the basis of 
the spot exchange rate at the reference date of impairment test.
Future cash flows are estimated with reference to the current conditions of the cash-generating unit and, as such, neither the 
benefits of future restructuring plans for which the entity is still not committed nor future investments to improve or optimise 
the unit are factored in the calculation.
If the recoverable amount of an asset or of a CGU is estimated to be less than its book value, the latter shall be reduced to the 
lower recoverable amount.  An impairment loss is immediately recorded in the income statement.  
If a write-down is no longer justified, the book value of the asset or of the CGU, with the exception of goodwill, shall be increa-
sed to the new value calculated by estimating its recoverable amount, although this can never be higher than the net book value 
that the asset or CGU would have had if the write-down for impairment had not been applied. The restored value is recorded 
in the income statement, unless the asset is valued at the adjusted amount, in which case the write-down reversal is ascribed 
to the revaluation reserve.

Inventories
Inventories are recorded at their specific purchase cost or at their presumable realisable value based on market prices, whi-
chever is lower.

Financial instruments
Initial recognition
Trade receivables are recorded when they first originate. All other financial assets and liabilities are initially recorded at their 
trade date, i.e. when the company becomes a party to the contract for the financial instrument. With the exception of trade 
receivables that do not have a significant financial component, financial assets are first valued at their fair value plus or minus 
the transaction costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition or to the issuance of the financial asset, in the case of 
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financial assets or liabilities that are not valued at Fair Value Through Profit or Loss (FVTPL).
Upon initial recognition, trade receivables without a significant financial component are valued at their transaction price.

Classification
Upon initial recognition, a financial asset is classified based on its amortised cost or fair value, recorded in the result for the 
year.
A financial asset must be valued using the amortised cost method if both of the following conditions are met and if the FVTPL 
is not applicable:
- the asset is held within a business model whose objective is to hold assets to collect their contractual cash flows;
- the contractual terms of the financial asset give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments of principal 
and interest.
All financial assets not valued using the amortised cost method are valued at FVTPL.

Financial liabilities are classified as having been valued at their amortised cost.

Subsequent valuations
Financial assets valued at FVTPL are subsequently valued at their fair value. Net gains and losses are therefore included in the 
result for the year.
Financial assets and liabilities valued using the amortised cost method are subsequently valued in accordance with the effecti-
ve interest method. Interest payable and exchange rate gains/losses are recorded as part of the result for the year, as are any 
gains or losses deriving from derecognition.
Expected credit losses are valued based on the ECL (Expected Credit Loss) model, based on estimated credit losses, weighted 
based on probability. Credit losses refer to the current value of all missing payments (i.e. the difference between the cash flows 
due to the entity pursuant to the contract and the cash flows which the company expects to receive). 

Derecognition
Financial assets are removed from the financial statements when the contractual rights over the cash flows relating to them 
expire, when the contractual rights to receive the relevant cash flows are transferred or when the control of the financial asset 
ceases to exist. If the company is involved in transactions that transfer assets recorded under assets on its balance sheet but 
keeps all or substantially all risks and benefits deriving from said assets, then the transferred assets are not subject to dere-
cognition.

Financial liabilities are derecognised when the obligation specified in the contract has been fulfilled or cancelled or has expi-
red. The company shall also derecognise a financial liability if the relative contractual terms and conditions change, if the 
cash flows for the altered liability substantially differ from those of the liability before the change. In this case, a new financial 
liability is recorded at fair value, based on the amended contractual terms and conditions. The effect of this change is recorded 
in the income statement.

Offsetting financial assets and liabilities
Financial assets and liabilities can be offset, and the amount deriving from said offsetting is recorded in the financial state-
ments if, and only if, there is the legal right to offset the relative amounts, and there is the intention to settle on a net basis or 
to realize the asset and settle the liability simultaneously.

Derivative financial instruments
IFRS 7 and IFRS 13 require financial instruments valued at fair value to be classified based on the quality of the sources used 
to calculate said fair value. In particular, IFRS 7 and IFRS 13 define three levels of fair value:
- Level 1: this level refers to financial assets/liabilities whose fair value is calculated based on the listed prices on active mar-
kets, both official and OTC, of identical assets or liabilities;
- Level 2: this level refers to financial assets/liabilities whose fair value is calculated based on input other than the listed prices 
referred to by Level 1, but that can be directly or indirectly observed on the market for said assets/liabilities;
- Level 3: this level refers to financial assets/liabilities whose fair value is calculated based on market data that cannot be ob-
served. This category includes instruments valued based on internal estimates, made using methodologies that follow industry 
best practices.
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With regard to the mark-to-market valuation method for open positions as at year-end date, for the purpose of calculating fair 
value, the company applies valuation techniques that make as much use as possible of market data and, likewise, relies as little 
as possible on specific inputs from within the company. In fact, the settlement price of equivalent products traded on regulated 
markets is used to calculate the fair value of these contracts.
If the official settlement price is not available, the “last trade” is used, otherwise the settlement price of the underlying contract 
is used as close as possible to the reference market (best proxy).
For contracts with non-standard delivery conditions, for which no settlement price is applicable from the relative exchanges, 
the non-arbitrage logic is applied to create the price curves necessary for the valuation to calculate the mark-to-market, on the 
basis of the settlement data available from the relevant exchanges.

Accounting standard IFRS 7 (Financial Instruments: Disclosures) requires a description of the goals, policies and procedures 
applied by the Company for the different types of financial risks (liquidity, market and credit) to which the Company is exposed, 
including a sensitivity analysis for each type of market risk (exchange rate, interest rate, equity, commodity) and information 
regarding the average, minimum and maximum concentration and exposure to various types of risk during the reporting period, 
if the exposure at the end of the period is not sufficiently representative.
Accounting standard IAS 1 governs, among other things, the obligation to provide information about the goals, policies and 
processes for managing capital, specifying, if capital requirements are imposed by third parties, the nature and the methods 
of management and any consequences of failure to comply with them. For a qualitative and quantitative analysis, please refer 
to the Management Report.

Employee benefits
Staff severance indemnity (in Italian: “TFR”) and pension contributions are calculated by applying an ‘actuarial’ method; the 
amount of rights accrued by employees during the reporting period is recorded in the income statement under the item “Per-
sonnel costs”, while the representative financial burden that the Company would incur if it were to request a loan for the same 
amount of the severance indemnity is recorded among “net financial income (expenses)”. Actuarial gains and losses that reflect 
the effects of changes in the actuarial assumptions applied are recorded in the statement of comprehensive income, taking into 
account the average number of years that employees are expected to continue working for the Company.
Specifically, pursuant to Italian Budget Law no. 296 of 27 December 2006, only the liability relating to employee severance 
payments that have remained within the Company was valued for IAS 19 purposes, since the amount accruing thereafter has 
been paid to a separate entity (supplementary pension fund or funds held by INPS - the Italian social security institution). As a 
result of these payments, the Company shall no longer have obligations connected to the work performed by employees in the 
future (so-called defined contribution plan).

Provisions for risks and charges
The Company records provisions for risks and charges whenever it has a legal or implicit obligation, regarding a past event, 
when it is probable that resources will be required to fulfil the obligation, and when a reliable estimate can be made of the 
amount of said obligation. This obligation may be legal or contractual or may derive from declarations or conduct by the Com-
pany which may lead third parties to reasonably expect that the Company is responsible or assumes responsibility for fulfilling 
an obligation (so-called  “implicit obligations”).
Changes in estimates are reflected in the income statement in the period in which the change occurred.
If the financial effect of the timing is significant, provisions are determined by discounting the expected future cash flows at 
a discount rate that reflects the current market assessment of the cost of borrowing in relation to the time, and the effect of 
discounting is recorded under “financial charges”.

Recognition of costs and revenues
Sales revenues are recognised when the customer gains control over the goods or services.
The company management must make an assessment regarding the calculation of the moment when control is transferred - at 
a given moment or over time. Revenues are recorded once the contractual obligations have been fulfilled, based on the tran-
saction price that is expected to be received having duly fulfilled said obligations.  
Costs are recognised when they refer to goods and services that have been sold or consumed during the year, or through syste-
matic allocation.
Financial income and expenses are recognised on an accrual basis, based on the financed amount and the effective interest 
rate applicable, which is the rate that discounts future collections/payments estimated over the expected life of the financial 
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asset/liability, to restore them to the book value of the given asset.
Dividends are accounted for when shareholders gain the right to receive the relative payment, which is normally during the year 
when the shareholders’ meeting of the investee company is held to approve the allocation of profits or reserves.

Taxes and levies
Taxes for the year consist of the sum of current and deferred taxes.
- current taxes are based on the taxable profit for the year. Taxable income may differ from the profit reported in the income 
statement due to the positive and negative items that will be taxable or deductible in other accounting periods and also exclu-
des items that will never be taxable or deductible. The current tax liability is calculated using the rates applicable as at the 
reporting date;
- prepaid and deferred taxes are taxes that the Company expects to pay or to recover on the temporary differences between the 
book value of assets and liabilities and the corresponding tax base used to calculate taxable income, determined by applying 
the tax rates in force at the time when the temporary differences will accrue or expire.
In addition, deferred taxes are calculated on all temporary differences arising between the tax base of an asset or a liability and 
the book value that appears in the financial statements, with the exception of goodwill, which is not deductible for tax purposes, 
and those differences arising from investments in subsidiaries for which cancellation is not expected in the foreseeable future. 
Deferred tax assets are listed to the extent that it is considered likely that there will be future taxable tax results that allow the 
use of deductible temporary differences.
The book value of deferred tax assets is reviewed as at the reporting date for each set of financial statements and is reduced 
to the extent that it is no longer likely that there will be sufficient taxable income to allow for all or part of said assets to be 
recovered.
Deferred taxes are recorded directly in the income statement, except for those relating to items recorded directly in the state-
ment of comprehensive income, in which case the relative deferred taxes are also recorded in the statement of comprehensive 
income.
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is the legal right to offset current tax assets and liabilities and when 
they refer to taxes owed to the same tax authority and the Company intends to liquidate the current tax assets and liabilities 
on a net basis.  

PART C
New accounting standards, interpretations and amendments
The company has adopted IFRS 16 Leasing for the first time. 
Please find below a description of the impact and nature of the changes following implementation of this new accounting 
standard. 
A number of other changes and interpretations were also applied for the first time in 2020, although these did not have any 
effect on the company’s financial statements as it has not adopted any other standard, interpretation or different disclosure 
before them coming into force.

IFRS 16 Leasing
IFRS 16 replaced IAS 17 - Leases, IFRIC 4 ‘Determining whether an Arrangement contains a Lease’, SIC-15 ‘Operating Lea-
ses-Incentives’ and SIC-27 ‘Evaluating the Substance of Transactions Involving the Legal Form of a Lease’. IFRS 16 defines 
the principles on how to identify, measure, present and report on leasing contracts and requires lessees to record the majority 
of leases in their financial statements.
With regard to lessors, the accounting requirements under IFRS 16 are substantially the same as those under IAS 17. The 
lessee shall continue to classify leases either as operational or as financial leases, in accordance with principles similar to those 
under the previous IAS 17. IFRS 16 therefore does not affect accounting records for lease contracts in which the company is 
lessor.
The lessee must initially record the asset (equal to its right of use of said asset) and a financial payable equal to the current 
value of the minimum mandatory future instalments to be paid. The subsequent valuation involves recording the depreciation 
of the right of use based on IAS 16 (or an alternative valuation method) and the discounting of the financial payable created 
when it was first recorded, using a discount rate defined in the leasing contract. Financial expenses and depreciation are recor-
ded separately in the income statement.
Please find below the effect of adopting IFRS 16:
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Value of the asset at 01.10.2019 187,573

(+) Increases for new contracts 544,569

(-) Depreciation for the period -100,866

Value of the asset at 30.09.2020 631,276

Value of the liability at 30.09.2020 631,276

    of which short-term 116,763

    of which medium/long-term 514,513

IFRIC Interpretation 23 Uncertainty over income tax treatments
This interpretation clarifies the accounting for income taxes when the tax treatment causes uncertainty regarding the applica-
tion of IAS 12 and does not apply to levies or taxes that do not fall within the scope of IAS 12, nor includes specific require-
ments relating to interest or sanctions attributable to uncertain tax treatments. More specifically, the interpretation covers the 
following points:
• Whether an entity considers uncertain tax treatments separately.
• The entity’s assumptions regarding taxation authorities’ examinations of the tax treatments;
• How an entity determines its taxable profit (or tax loss), tax base, unused tax losses, unused tax credits and tax rates;
• How an entity treats changes in facts and circumstances.
The company defines whether it shall consider each uncertain tax treatment separately or together with other uncertain tax 
treatments (one or more), and uses an approach that provides better predictions of the resolution of the uncertainty.
The company uses significant judgement to identify uncertainties over income tax treatments. Given that the company operates 
in a complex multinational context, it assessed whether this interpretation may have had an effect on its financial statements. 
Upon adopting the interpretation, the company examined the existence of any uncertain tax positions, with particular reference 
to the transfer pricing policy. 
The Company and its subsidiaries submit tax returns in various jurisdictions, deducting some costs connected to transfer pri-
cing; this approach may therefore be subject to an assessment by the relevant tax authorities.
Based on studies carried out into transfer pricing, the company has concluded that its tax treatments (including those of its 
subsidiaries) are likely to be accepted by the tax authorities. This interpretation has therefore not had any impact on the finan-
cial statements.

Amendments to IFRS 9: Prepayment Features with Negative Compensation
Pursuant to IFRS 9, a debt instrument may be valued at amortised cost or at fair value in the statement of comprehensive in-
come, provided that the contractual cash flows are “solely payments of principal and interest on the principal amount outstan-
ding” (SPPI criterion) and that the asset is held within an appropriate business model. The amendments to IFRS 9 clarify that 
a financial asset shall overcome the SPPI criterion regardless of the event or circumstance causing the early termination of the 
contract and regardless of who is the party paying or receiving a reasonable compensation for early termination of the contract. 
These amendments have not had any effects on the company’s financial statements.

Amendments to IAS 19: Plan Amendment, Curtailment or Settlement.
The amendments to IAS 19 clarify the accounting rules to be applied if, during the reporting period, a plan is amended, 
curtailed or settled. These changes specify that, if a plan is amended, curtailed or settled during the financial year, an entity 
is obliged to determine the service cost for the rest of the period after said amendment, curtailment or settlement, using the 
actuarial assumptions of reference to remeasure the net defined benefit liability (asset) so that it reflects the benefits offered 
under the plan and the plan assets after the event in question. The entity is also obliged to determine the net interest for the 
remaining period after the plan is amended, curtailed or settled: the net defined benefit liability (asset) that reflects the benefits 
offered under the plan and the plan assets after the event in question; and the discount rate used to remeasure the net defined 
benefit liability (asset). 
These amendments have not affected these financial statements in any way as the company, during the period of reference, 
did not record any amendment, curtailment or settlement of plans.
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Amendments to IAS 28: Long-term Interests in Associates and Joint Ventures
These amendments specify that a company applies IFRS 9 to long-term investments in associates or joint ventures to which 
the equity method is not applied, but that, in substance, form part of the net investment in those associates and joint ventures 
(long-term interests). 
This clarification is significant because it implies that the model of expected credit losses under IFRS 9 is applicable to such 
long-term investments.
The amendments also state that, when applying IFRS 9, an entity does not need to take any losses of the associate or joint 
venture into account, nor any value impairments for the relative equity investment, recorded as adjustments of the net equity 
investment held in the associate or joint venture deriving from application of IAS 28 - Investments in Associates and Joint 
Ventures.
These amendments have not affected these financial statements in any way, as the company applies the equity method.

Annual Improvements to IFRSs: 2015-2017 Cycle
IFRS 3 Business Combination
These amendments clarify that when an entity obtains control of a business that is a joint operation, it applies the requirements 
for a business combination completed in several phases, including remeasuring the previously held interests in the assets and 
liabilities of the joint operation at fair value. In doing so, the acquirer revalue the previously held interest in the joint operation.
This change has not had any impact on the company’s financial statements, as there were no cases of business combinations 
in which joint control was obtained.

IFRS 11 Joint Arrangements
An entity that takes part in a joint operation, without having joint control, could obtain joint control of the joint operation if the 
latter’s activities constitute a business as defined by IFRS 3.
These amendments clarify that when an entity obtains joint control of a business that is a joint operation, the entity does not 
remeasure previously held interests in that business. Entities apply these amendments to operations in which they have joint 
control, starting from the beginning of the financial year as of 1 November 2019 or later; early application is permitted.
This change has not had any impact on the company’s financial statements, as there were no cases of business combinations 
in which joint control was obtained.

IAS 12 Income Tax 
The amendments clarify that tax consequences of dividends are linked to the past transactions or events that generated di-
stributable profits rather than to shareholder distributions. Therefore, an entity recognises the income tax consequences of 
dividends in its profit/(loss) statement for the year, under other items of the statement of comprehensive income or in its sha-
reholders’ equity, in line with how the entity previously recognised the past transactions or events in question.
The entity shall apply these changes for financial years beginning from 1 November 2019 onwards; early application is per-
mitted. When the entity applies these amendments for the first time, they are to be applied to the consequences that the taxes 
have had on dividends, recorded from the start of the first financial year. As the company’s current practices are in line with 
these amendments, the company’s financial statements have not been affected by these changes.

IAS 23 Borrowing costs
These amendments clarify that an entity treats any borrowing carried out as non-specific if, from the outset, it was aimed at 
developing an asset; this shall be the case if all the actions necessary to prepare said asset for use or sale have been completed.
The entity shall apply these amendments to the financial expenses incurred starting from the beginning of the year in which 
the entity applies these amendments for the first time. The entity shall apply these changes for financial years beginning from 
1 November 2019 onwards; early application is permitted. As the company’s current practices are in line with these amend-
ments, the company’s financial statements have not been affected by these changes.

Forthcoming standards to be adopted
The company shall apply a number of standards or amendments that entered into force on 1 January 2020 for the first time.

Amendments to IFRS 3: Definition of a business
The amendments to IFRS 3 clarify that, in order to be considered a business, an integrated set of activities and assets must 
include, at a minimum, an input and a substantive process that together significantly contribute to the ability to create output. 
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It also clarified that a business can exist without including all of the inputs and processes needed to create outputs. These 
amendments shall have an effect on future financial years if the company completes any business combinations.

Amendments to IFRS 7, IFRS 9 and IAS 39: Interest rate benchmark reform
The amendments to IFRS 9 and IAS 39 provide a number of expedient practices to be applied to all hedging relationships 
directly affected by the interest rate benchmark reform. A hedging relationship is ‘directly affected’ if the reform gives rise to 
uncertainties about the timing or the amount of interest rate benchmark-based cash flows of the hedged item. No significant 
impacts are expected due to the application of this standard.

Amendments to IAS 1 and IAS 8 – definition of material
These amendments provide a new definition of ‘material’, stating that information is material if omitting, misstating or obscu-
ring it could reasonably be expected to influence the decisions that the primary users of general purpose financial statements 
make on the basis of those financial statements, which provide financial information about the specific reporting entity. Mate-
riality depends on the type or the magnitude of information, or both. The entity assesses whether information is material on its 
own or when combined with other information in the context of the financial statements, considered as a whole.  Information 
in financial statements can be obscured if it has a similar effect for primary users to omitting or misstating information. No 
significant impacts are expected due to the application of this standard.

Conceptual Framework for Financial Reporting issued on 29 March 2018
The Conceptual Framework is not a standard and none of the concepts therein shall take precedence over the concepts or requi-
rements of accounting standards. The purpose of the Conceptual Framework is to support the IASB to develop standards, help 
the drafters to develop consistent accounting policies where applicable standards do not exist for specific circumstances and 
to help all the players involved to understand and interpret the standards. The reviewed version of the Conceptual Framework 
includes a number of new concepts, provides updated definitions and amended recognition criteria for assets and liabilities and 
clarifies a number of important concepts. No significant impacts are expected due to the application of this standard.

PART D
Other information relevant to the preparation of the financial statements

Use of estimates
The preparation of the financial statements requires the Directors to make estimates and assumptions that affect the revenue, 
cost, asset and liability amounts reported, as well as on the disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities as at the reporting 
date. 
These estimates and assumptions are based on experience and other factors deemed to be relevant.  The actual results that 
will be recorded may therefore differ from these estimates. Estimates and assumptions are reviewed regularly and the effects of 
any changes made to them are reflected in the income statement in the period in which the estimate is revised, if said revision 
affects only that period, or also in subsequent periods if the revision affects both the current year and future years.
Please find below a summary of the critical evaluation processes used by the Company to apply the accounting standards re-
garding future events that may have significant effects on the values reported in the financial statements, or that may lead to 
significant value adjustments to the book value of the assets and liabilities in the year after the one referred to by the financial 
statements.

Credit impairment provision
This item reflects the company’s estimate of the losses on its portfolio of receivables, calculated based on the Expected Credit 
Loss model.
Allocations are therefore made to this provision when credit losses are expected, estimated based on past experience with 
receivables with a similar credit risk, as well as on careful monitoring of the quality of the portfolio of receivables.
Estimates and assumptions are reviewed regularly and the effects of any changes are reflected in the income statement in the 
period of reference.

Recoverability of tangible and intangible assets 
Tangible and intangible assets are written-down when events or changes in circumstances imply that their book value is not 
recoverable.
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The types of events that can result in a write-down of assets include: change in business plans, changes in market prices and 
foreign exchange rates that may result in weaker operating performance, reduced plant use, changes, updates of the legislative 
and regulatory framework, and changes in the cash flow discount rates.
The decision whether to write-down an asset and the quantification of this depends on the Directors’ assessment of complex 
and highly uncertain factors, including the future trend of prices and foreign exchange rates, the impact of inflation and tech-
nological advances on production factors, production profiles and conditions of supply and demand on a global, national and 
regional scale.
The write-down is calculated by comparing the book value in the financial statements for the asset or cash-generating unit to 
which it belongs, with its recoverable amount, represented by the higher of the fair value net of disposal costs, and the value 
in use calculated by discounting the expected cash flows resulting from the use of the asset or assets belonging to the cash-ge-
nerating unit, net of disposal costs.  Expected cash flows are calculated in light of the information available at the time of the 
estimate and are based on subjective judgements on the performance of future variables - such as prices, costs, demand growth 
rates and production profiles - and are discounted applying a rate, net of taxes, that takes into account the risk regarding the 
asset concerned.
The loss in the value of an asset is restored when there is reason to believe that this loss has been reduced/no longer exists, or 
when there has been a change in the estimates used to calculate the recoverable amount.

Recoverability of deferred tax assets 
As at 30 September 2020, the financial statements present deferred tax assets that are related to the temporary differences 
recorded between statutory values and values recognised for tax purposes, which can be used in subsequent years within the 
limits of the Company’s ability to generate taxable profits.
The valuation of the aforementioned recoverability takes into account the estimate of future taxable income.

Pension plans
The staff severance indemnity can be classed as a defined-benefit plan.
The Company applies various statistical assumptions and evaluation factors with the aim of anticipating future events, for 
calculating charges, liabilities and assets relating to these plans. Assumptions concern the discount rate, the expected return 
on the plan assets and the rates of future salary increases.  In addition, the Company’s actuary consultants apply subjective 
factors, such as the relative rates of mortality and turnover.

Other financial statement items
In addition to the items mentioned above, estimates were made:
- when calculating the useful life of tangible and intangible assets for the purpose of calculating the relative depreciation and 
amortisation;
- on the unrealised profits/losses (fair value) of derivative financial instruments.

Risk management
With regard to the information required by Art. 2428, paragraph 2, number 6-bis, of the Italian Civil Code, which calls for a 
description of the goals, policies and risks involved with financial risk management, please refer to the following paragraph 
“Information on financial risks” which provides a detailed description.
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ASSETS
Notes 30/09/2020 30/09/2020

NON-CURRENT ASSETS

Tangible assets 1 1,896,053 1,820,202

Land 140,000 430,000

Property 1,051,003 1,265,155

Plant and equipment 19,626 25,431

Vehicles 98,918 1,298

Other property, plant and equipment 586,507 98,317

Intangible assets 2 40,346,091 41,078,821

Patents, trademarks and other rights 557,582 366,018

Customer list 30,748,297 31,672,590

Goodwill 9,040,212 9,040,212

Financial assets 3 4,076,309 3,766,309

Equity investments 4,076,309 3,766,309

Deferred tax assets 4 2,493,358 949,601

Other non-current assets 5 700,000 0

TOTAL NON-CURRENT ASSETS 49,511,811 47,614,932

CURRENT ASSETS

Inventories 6 345,295 992,397

Financial assets 7 11,034,295 7,099,295

Current tax assets 8 3,596,497 1,975,166

Trade receivables 9 133,797,477 271,935,398

Cash and cash equivalents 10 8,090,513 5,026,275

Other assets 11 11,004,642 9,421,644

TOTAL CURRENT ASSETS 167,868,719 296,450,175

TOTAL ASSETS 217,380,530 344,065,107

NON-CURRENT ASSETS

1. TANGIBLE ASSETS
Property, plant and equipment amounted to  Euro 1,896,053 (Euro 1,820,202 at 30/09/2019) and were valued at cost.
The item’s structure, any changes in value during the year and other relevant information are provided and commented on 
below.

 
PART E
Information on the Statement of Financial Position
All items are listed in units of Euro.
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Property, plant and equipment for functional use: changes

Land Property Plant and equip-
ment

A. Opening balance 430,000 1,265,155 25,431

B. Increases 0 544,568 4,510

B.1 Purchases 0 0 4,510

B. 2 IFRS 16 recognition 0 544,568 0

C. Decreases -290,000 -758,720 -10,315

C.1 Sales -290,000 -714,423 -7,000

C.2 Reclassifications 0 0 0

C.3 Depreciation 0 -44,297 -3,315

D. Closing balance 140,000 1,051,003 19,626

Vehicles Others Total

A. Opening balance 1,298 98,317 1,820,202

B. Increases 187,573 620,519 1,357,168

B.1 Purchases 0 620,519 625,028

B. 2 IFRS 16 recognition 187,573 0 732,140

C. Decreases -89,953 -132,329 -1,281,317

C.1 Sales 0 0 -1,011,423

C.2 Reclassifications 0 0 0

C.3 Depreciation -89,953 -132,329 -269,894

D. Closing balance 98,918 586,507 1,896,053

Tangible assets: breakdown by valuation criterion

30/09/2020 30/09/2019

Land 140,000 430,000

Property 1,051,003 1,265,155

Plant and equipment 19,626 25,431

Vehicles 98,918 1,298

Other Property, Plant and Equipment 586,507 98,317

Total 1,896,053 1,820,202
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Intangible assets: changes
Patents, trade-

marks and other 
rights

Goodwill Customer list Total

A. Opening balance 366,018 9,040,212 31,672,590 41,078,821

B. Increases 475,495 0 6,252,686 6,728,181

B.1 Purchases 409,995 0 5,193,679 5,603,674

B.2 under development 65,500 0 1,059,007 1,124,507

C. Decreases -283,931 0 -7,176,980 -7,460,911

C.2 Amortisation -286,931 0 -7,176,980 -7,460,911

D. Closing balance 557,582 9,040,212 30,748,297 40,346,091

Intangible assets: breakdown by valuation criterion

30/09/2020 30/09/2019

Patents, trademarks and other rights 557,582 366,018

Goodwill 9,040,212 9,040,212

Customer list 30,748,297 31,672,590

Total 40,346,091 41,078,821

The non-current tangible assets listed above have a finite useful life and are therefore subject to depreciation (there are no 
accumulated losses in value to report).
The item “Land and Property” mainly refers to:
- property, acquired through a lease agreement entered into in 2014, for which the right to acquire ownership was exercised 
on 01/04/2019. This property is used as the operating headquarters of Europe Energy S.p.A. in San Martino Buon Albergo 
(VR), Italy, in relation to which the land is worth Euro 140,000 and the building is worth Euro 560,000, along with the relative 
depreciation amount equal to Euro 126,000;
- the item “Property” includes Euro 544,568 as recognition of the ‘right of use’ for the property rented for the registered office 
in Milan, accounted for by applying the IFRS 16 standard for the first time; this is offset by an entry under financial payables 
in relation to which depreciation of Euro 11,345 has been calculated. Furthermore, the value recorded last year as “properties 
being built” for the new operational headquarters, equal to Euro 707,523, was sold to Iccrea Banca Impresa after singing a 
real estate lease, the accounting effects of which shall be recorded pursuant to IFRS 16, starting from when the property is 
handed over by the leasing company.
- Due to the effects of the IFRS 16 standard being applied for the first time, the ‘right of use’ was recorded under the item 
“Vehicles” for cars for which a full-service rental agreement was in place equal to Euro 187,563; again, this is offset by an 
entry under financial payables in relation to which depreciation of Euro 89,521 has been calculated;
- Under the item “Others”, the most significant increase refers to the acquisition of fibre optic modems for Euro 611,040, 
delivered to customers and depreciated over the duration of the contract for Euro 90,850.

2. INTANGIBLE ASSETS
Intangible assets amounted to Euro 40,346,091 (Euro 41,078,821 at 30/09/2019).
The item’s structure, any changes in value during the year and other relevant information are provided and commented on 
below.
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30/09/2020 30/09/2019

In associated companies 3,539,705 3,549,705

In subsidiaries 536,604 216,604

Total 4,076,309 3,766,309

Patents, trademarks and other rights: these refer to costs for the purchase and development of the website, the Energy Trading 
Risk Management software, the CRM and billing software licences and the licences for the use of general ledger software. 
The item “Patents, trademarks and other rights” also includes assets under development for Euro 65,500 (Euro 125,300 in 
the previous year) which refer to the implementation of CRM and billing software.

The goodwill recorded in the financial statements, for a total of Euro 9,040,212, is made up of Euro 667,095 for the exchange 
deficit generated following the merger by incorporation of Europe Holding S.r.l. into Europe Energy S.p.A. (so-called reverse 
merger), the accounting and tax effects of which began on 1 April 2014.
The impairment process is developed with reference to the company’s only CGU, the expected cash flows for which therefore 
refer to the 2019-2023 business plan approved by the board of directors; the figures stated in this plan were achieved in both 
2019 and 2020 and it shall remain valid for the coming financial years. This plan shows EBITDA that is well above the value of 
intangible assets with an indefinite life recorded in the financial statements; this is also the case for the next financial year and 
each following year. The result of this is that, also without forecasting g growth rates, and carrying out a sensitivity analysis on 
cash flows without considering that the latter will increase during the period covered by the plan, as well as taking into account 
discount rates for the sensitivity analysis of up to 10%, the recorded value of the assets still amply covers their value in use.

The remaining Euro 8,373,117 refer to the goodwill resulting from the Purchase Price Allocation (PPA) calculated by the ban-
kruptcy procedure for Gascom S.r.l. in Liquidazione, upon the purchase in 2017 of the company selling electricity and natural 
gas to end customers, previously leased by the aforementioned company.

The item Customer List amounted to Euro 30,748,297 and refers to the following:
- Acquisition of a business branch from Edlo Energy S.p.A. which took effect on 01/10/2018. 
- Acquisition of a customer portfolio from Green Network S.p.A., which took effect on 01/07/2019. 
- In accordance with IFRS 15, incremental costs of obtaining contracts with customers that are expected to be recovered, in the 
years following the acquisition, shall be recorded by billing said customers for the contractual fees. The company has taken the 
practical measure permitted by IFRS 15, § 94, of directly recording the cost amount that would have had a lower amortisation 
amount for the year under ‘Operating costs’ in the income statement, therefore without going via non-current assets. Amortisa-
tion of the customer list begins when the customer begins to be supplied and, therefore, when the company begins to obtain 
the relative economic benefits. Acquisition costs paid during the month or in the months prior to this occurring are recorded 
under “Non-current assets under development”.

Recoverability of intangible assets and goodwill
During the reporting period, there were no indications of impairment loss with regard to intangible assets and goodwill.

3. Financial assets
Equity investments

More specifically, equity investments include the equity stakes held by the companies in the Balkan area, further details of 
which are provided in the management report. The companies, both subsidiaries and associates, are mainly start-ups in their 
respective markets. The assets, liabilities and financial position of the aforementioned companies are therefore currently at a 
stage where there are initial investments of a certain importance without an immediate return on investment.
It is important to remember the strategic importance of the presence in the Balkan area, as it includes a user base that is 
extremely close to us in terms of location and, in part, culture In these countries the liberalisation of the energy markets is 
happening only in the past few years, with a 10/15-year delay compared to Italy and continental Europe. Average economic 
growth in these countries amounts to 3.8%, driving also cultural change that is encouraging the population to adopt consumer 
behaviour more similar to trends in western countries. For the energy industry, this means a strong impulse for liberalisation 
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Book value Shareholding % Main headquarters

E-NERGIA Gas & Power S.r.l. 114,500 71,18% Romania– Bucharest

E-NERGIA Gas & Power D.O.O. 305,250 100% Slovenia – Ajdovščina

Gnucom S.r.l. 116,854 100% Milan

Total 536,604

Book value Date of purchase Shareholding % Main headquarters

LE Trading AS 1,364,551 29/03/2016 30% Slovakia - Bratislava

E-nergia Gas & Power D.o.o. 2,175,154 28/09/2020 35% Serbia - Belgrade

and well-informed choices when it comes to providers.
Work to create value, mainly focusing on growing the customer portfolio (understood to be both a source of income and an asset 
that can be valued) is continuing at a reasonable pace and following reasonable procedures considering the reference markets 
and the unique nature of the reporting period in question; in any case, these value creation initiatives are fully confirming the 
management’s assumptions of medium-term profitability.

Equity investments in subsidiaries
These refer to equity investments in the following companies:

During the year, the following changes were recorded:
- a 30% stake was acquired in the Slovenian company for Euro 300,000; this company is now fully owned;
- a share capital increase was subscribed for the Romanian company, for Euro 20,000.
The company does not draw up consolidated financial statements given that its parent company draws up consolidated finan-
cial statements in accordance with IFRS accounting standards.

Equity investments in associated companies
Equity investments in associated companies refer to the following:

LE Trading AS, a company incorporated under Slovak law, with a value of Euro 1,364,551, is an associated company as it is 
30% owned.
During the reporting period, the stake previously held in E-nergia Gas & Power D.o.o. with registered office in Croatia, was sold, 
generating a capital gain of Euro 290,000.

4. Deferred tax assets
The receivables for prepaid taxes recorded in the financial statements, for a total of Euro 2,493,358 (Euro 949,601 at 
30/09/2019), refer to the receivable for IRES (Corporate Income Tax) deferred tax assets set aside for certain categories of 
expenses incurred over the year, but whose fiscal recognition is deferred to future years, when the conditions established by tax 
legislation shall apply to the individual case. 
The breakdown of prepaid taxes and the nature of the items and of the temporary differences that give rise to them are provided 
and commented on below.
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IRES (corporate 
income tax)

Offsetting item 
in Income 
Statement

Previous year

IRAP (regional 
income tax)

Offsetting item 
in Income 
Statement

Previous year

Total
offsetting item 

in Income 
Statement

Previous year

Total 
30/09/2019

Benefits after the end of the 
employment relationship

12,095 0 12,713 17,564

Amortisation of intangible assets IAS -5,086 0 -5,086 0

Write-down of securities 0 0 0 200,128

Credit impairment provision -192,000 0 -192,000 312,000

Other prepaid taxes 1,394 0 1,394 11,859

Amortisation of customer list 351,011 57,039 408,050 408,050

Total 167,414 57,039 225,071 949,601

IRES (corporate 
income tax)

Offsetting item 
in Income 
Statement

Current year

IRAP (regional 
income tax)

Offsetting item 
in Income 
Statement

Current year

Total
offsetting item 

in Income 
Statement

Current year

Total 
30/09/2020

Benefits after the end of the 
employment relationship

-10,722 0 -10,722 6,841

Write-down of securities 0 0 0 200,128

Credit impairment provision 288,000 0 288,000 600,000

Other prepaid taxes 2,797 0 2,797 14,657

Amortisation of customer list 1,087,038 176,644 1,263,682 1,671,732

Total 1,367,113 176,644 1,543,757 2,493,358

It should be noted that prepaid taxes are only accounted for if there is reasonable certainty that, in subsequent years, the 
company will be able to generate taxable income able to fully recover the credits recorded.
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Total
30/09/2019

Increase in
Prepaid/deferred 

taxes recorded in the
 Income Statement 

for the year

Decreases in Prepaid/
deferred taxes 
recorded in the 

Income Statement for 
the year

Total 
30/09/2020

Benefits after the end of the 
employment relationship

17,564 655 -11,377 6,841

Write-down of securities 200,128 0 0 200,128

Taxed credit impairment pro-
vision

312,000 288,000 0 600,000

Other prepaid taxes 11,858 14,657 -11,858 14,657

Amortisation of customer list 408,050 1,263,682 0 1,671,732

Total 949,601 1,566,994 -23,236 2,493,357

30/09/2020 30/09/2019

Due from subsidiaries 9,699,000 5,824,000

Due from associated companies 25,551 74,445

Due from parent company 1,260,000 1,200,000

Others 49,744 850

Total current financial assets 11,034,295 7,099,295

Prepaid tax assets: changes

5. Other non-current liabilities
This item amounts to Euro 700,000 (Euro 0 as of 30/09/2019) and refers to the initial balloon payment on the real estate 
lease contract entered into with Iccrea Banca Impresa on 15/10/2019 to purchase the property in San Martino Buon Albergo 
(VR), which is in the process of being completed and has still not yet been handed over. 

CURRENT ASSETS

6. Inventories
Inventories amounted to Euro 345,295 (Euro 992,397 at 30/09/2019) 
These refer to:
- Euro 305,468 of natural gas inventories stored at Stogit S.p.A. for 30,793.05 MWh, in relation to which the monthly wei-
ghted average cost method was used for valuation purposes.
- Euro 39,826 for SIM cards purchased that are yet to be delivered to customers; these were valued using the weighted average 
cost method.

7. Financial assets
Financial assets amounted to Euro 11,034,295 (Euro 7,099,295 at 30/09/2019).
Their structure is provided and commented on below.

Financial receivables due from subsidiaries include receivables for:
Euro 640,000 from the Slovenian company E-nergia Gas & Power D.O.O.;
Euro 9,059,000 from the Romanian company E-nergia Gas & Power S.r.l..
Financial receivables due from associated companies include receivables for:
Euro 25,551 from the Slovak company LE Trading AS.
The receivable due from the parent company refers to a loan issued to Europe Energy Holding S.r.l..
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Other current financial assets 30/09/2020 30/09/2019

10 shares in BCC Banca di Verona 850 850

E-nergia Gas & Power D.O.O. (Croatia) 48,894 0

Total 49,744 850

30/09/2020 30/09/2019

Due from third parties 125,584,164 259,046,061

Due from the group 13,953,714 15,640,128

Total trade receivable - gross 139,537,878 274,686,189

Credit impairment provision -5,740,401 -2,750,791

Total trade receivable - net 133,797,477 271,935,398

Trade receivables due from third parties 30/09/2020 30/09/2019

Receivables 112,267,581 192,113,122

‘SDD/RIBA' effects in the portfolio 12,071,690 4,161,676

Invoices to be issued 16,810,126 79,310,553

Credit impairment provision -5,740,401 -2,750,791

Credit notes to be issued -1,611,518 -899,162

Total trade receivables 133,797,477 271,935,398

30/09/2020 30/09/2019

VAT receivables 3,307,974 1,254,479

Withholdings 11,899 4,342

Other receivables 276,624 716,344

Total current tax assets 3,596,497 1,975,166

To date, these securities are still part of the portfolio.
All outstanding loans are interest-bearing at the market rate.

8. Current tax assets
Current tax assets amounted to Euro 3,596,497 (Euro 1,975,166 at 30/09/2019).
Their structure is provided and commented on below.

The item “others” consists of net receivables for energy and gas excise duties and surcharges, equal to Euro 276,624, from 
2018 and 2019, which will be recovered when the 2020 “UTF” declaration (regarding excise duties) is submitted.

9. Trade receivables
Trade receivables, net of write-downs, amounted to Euro 133,797,477 (Euro 271,935,398 at 30/09/2019).
Their structure is provided and commented on below.
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Previous period
Allocations to the 

provision during the 
year

Use/Release
during the year

Current 
period

Credit impairment provision 2,450,791 1,789,911 -301 4,240,401

Taxed credit impairment 
provision

300,000 1,200,000 0 1,500,000

Total 2,750,791 2,989,911 -301 5,740,401

Italy EU Non-EU Total

Trade receivables 119,453,868 11,684,471 2,659,138 133,797,478

30/09/2020 30/09/2019

Cash on hand 500 355

Bank deposits 8,087,875 5,023,087

Other cash and cash equivalents 2,138 2,834

Total 8,090,513 5,026,275

The decrease in trade receivables and payables is mainly due to a reduction in dispatching services provided to third parties; 
this trend is substantially in line with revenue performance during the last part of the year, compared with the same period of 
the previous year.

The credit impairment provision underwent the following changes during the reporting period:

During the financial year, the company continued to analyse all types of receivables in a timely manner, including through 
companies specialising in debt collection. 
All receivables are assessed using criteria that take into account prudent estimates of overall future credit performance and 
based on the characteristics of the customers. Analytical criteria were also adopted to assess the likelihood of the most signi-
ficant receivables being paid. All receivables are valued in accordance with IFRS 9, using the Expected Credit Loss method.

The breakdown of trade receivables by geographic area is provided below:

10. Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents amounted to Euro 8,090,513 (Euro 5,026,275 at 30/09/2019).
Their structure is provided and commented on below.
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Other assets 30/09/2020 30/09/2019

Advance payments to suppliers 155,872 769,319

CMOR 838,390 184,213

Others 6,209,535 5,064,557

Totale 7,327,842 6,018,089

 30/09/2020 30/09/2019

Receivables due from social security institutions 11,149 12,883

Accrued income and prepaid expenses 1,001,522 453,117

Security deposits 2,664,129 2,937,555

Other assets 7,327,842 6,018,089

Total 11,004,642 9,421,644

Accrued income and prepaid expenses 30/09/2020 30/09/2019

Subscription/membership fees 80,282 20,162

Insurance, bank guarantees 127,159 136,348

Periodic maintenance and licences 262,053 24,579

Sponsorships and advertising 388,580 178,187

Others 143,447 93,841

Total 1,001,522 453,117

The item “Security deposits” mainly includes the deposit paid to GME to guarantee purchases of electricity and other security 
deposits paid to Snam Rete Gas, Terna, CEGH and other suppliers to guarantee existing contracts
The item “Accrued income and prepaid expenses” is made up of the following:

Please note that there are no accruals and deferrals exceeding five years recorded in the financial statements as of 30/09/2020.

11. Other assets
Other assets amounted to Euro 11,004,642 (Euro 9,421,644 at 30/09/2019).
Their structure is provided and commented on below.

“Advance payments to suppliers” refer to advance payment invoices for the purchase of electricity from companies that own 
photovoltaic systems.
The item “Others” mainly includes “Receivables for MTM” deriving from the valuation (“Mark to Market”) of derivative con-
tracts for the purchase/sale of electricity and gas for Euro 5,406,771 (Euro 4,217,684 as of 30/09/2019), valued at their fair 
value; the latter represents the value as at the date of preparation of the financial statements of the contracts entered into by 
the Company (portfolio) after the reporting date.
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SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY AND LIABILITIES

Note 30/09/2020 30/09/2019

SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY

Share capital 5,000,000 5,000,000

Other reserves 15,678,951 12,243,064

Profits (losses) carried forward 573,804 573,804

Reserve for actuarial gains -62,719 -63,946

Profit (loss) for the year 1,424,179 3,435,887

TOTAL SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY 12 22,614,214 21,188,809

NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES

Non-current financial liabilities 13 12,031,799 1,453,667

Provisions for risks and charges 14 1,685,716 93,521

Staff severance pay and other employee benefits 15 463,856 660,144

Deferred tax liabilities 16 254,832 30,419

Total non-current liabilities 14,436,204 2,237,750

CURRENT LIABILITIES

Current financial liabilities 17 42,344,314 31,349,830

Current tax liabilities 18 17,400,253 5,625,542

Trade payables 19 112,487,513 280,635,911

Other liabilities 20 8,098,032 3,027,264

Total current liabilities 180,330,113 320,638,547

TOTAL LIABILITIES 194,766,316 322,876,298

TOTAL SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY AND LIABILITIES 217,380,530 344,065,107
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 30/09/2020 30/09/2019

Share capital 5,000,000 5,000,000

Legal reserve 1,000,000 883,060

Extraordinary reserve 14,206,663 10,887,716

Other reserves 1,935,268 1,935,268

FTA reserve -1,462,980 -1,462,980

IAS 19 reserve -62,719 -63,946

Profits (losses) carried forward 573,804 573,804

Result for the year 1,424,179 3,435,887

Total SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY 22,614,214 21,188,809

12. Shareholders’ equity
On 15/05/2020, the Shareholders’ Meeting passed a resolution to use the profit for the year ending 30 September 2019 to 
increase the legal reserve by Euro 116,940 and the extraordinary reserve by the remaining Euro 3,318,947. 

Share capital
The share capital consists of 5,000,000 ordinary shares, each worth Euro 1, held exclusively by Europe Energy Holding S.r.l..
It is acknowledged that a deed of pledge was signed on 8 June 2019, through which the sole shareholder, Europe Energy 
Holding S.r.l., established a right of pledge on share certificate no. 23, representing 3,500,000 shares with a total nominal 
value of Euro 3,500,000 and equal to 70% of the company’s share capital in favour of Unicredit S.p.A., as a guarantee on the 
receivables for the loan of Euro 5,468,929 granted, with a residual amount due of Euro 1,654,125 at 30/09/2020.
This pledge restricts the distribution of dividends.

First-Time Adoption Reserve
This reserve amounts to Euro - 1,462,980 and refers to the values recorded when the IAS/IFRS were adopted for the first time 
as at 01/01/2014 (equal to Euro 337,426), plus the amendments recorded during the last reporting period, when IFRS 9 and 
IFRS 15 were adopted (for Euro – 1,800,405); no changes were recorded during the reporting period.

OIC reserve
The item “IAS 19” at 30 September 2020 amounted to Euro - 62,719 and includes the net impact on actuarial gains (losses) 
resulting from the application of the amendment to IAS 19 (Employee benefits), recognised directly under shareholders’ equity.

Profits (losses) carried forward 
As of 30 September 2020, this item amounted to Euro 573,804 and represents the changes during the year mainly relating 
to the carry-forward of the difference in profit from the previous year.

Shareholders’ equity - origin, use and distribution
Please find below the information required by Art. 2427, no. 7-bis of the Italian Civil Code, which provides for the indication 
of shareholders’ equity items, distinguishing between them in relation to their availability, origin and use in previous years (for 
dividend distribution).
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Final balance Possible use Available 
share

Uses in the three 
previous years - other

Issued capital 5,000,000

Profit reserves

Legal reserve 1,000,000 B

IAS/IFRS conversion reserves 337,426 A, B 337,426 0

Extraordinary reserve 14,206,663 A, B, C 14,206,663 0

Merger surplus reserve 1,935,268 A, B, C 1,935,268 0

Profit carried forward 573,803 A, B, C 573,803 0

Total 18,053,160

- of which not distributable 1,000,000

- of which distributable * 17,053,160

Key:

A. for share capital increase

B. to cover losses

C. for distribution to shareholders

* according to the Italian Civil Code – however, please refer to the comment above in relation to the encumbrance in place with Unicredit

NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES

13. Non-current financial liabilities
Loans amounted to Euro 12,031,799 (Euro 1,453,667 at 30/09/2019).
This item refers to loans obtained from banks and relates to the non-current portion.
It should be noted that Euro 619,920 refer to amounts due after five years.
Details of the loans in place as of 30/09/2020 are provided below:
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Provisions for future risks and charges - breakdown

30/09/2020 30/09/2019

Provision for severance & pension liabilities and similar 
obligations

251,716 93,521

Provision for future risks 1,434,000 0

Total provisions for future risks and charges 1,685,716 93,521

Provisions for future risks and charges - changes
Provisions for future risks and charges

Opening balance 93,521 

Additional allocations 1,615,565

Provisions used -23,370

Closing balance 1,685,716

Banking institution 30/09/2020 interest rate expiry within 1 year within 5 years beyond

Banco delle Tre Venezie 839,309 2,90% 25/09/2022 328,449 510,860 0

Banca Popolare Emilia 
Romagna

102,856 1,90% 21/09/2022 50,940 51,916 0

Unicredit Spa* 1,654,125 1,67% 30/06/2022 945,214 708,911 0

Banca Popolare Agricola 
di Ragusa

88,425 1,49% 30/04/2021 88,425 0 0

Banco Popolare 1,168,494 2,50% 30/04/2023 443,400 725,094 0

Monte Paschi di Siena 666,667 1,35% 31/05/2021 666,667 0 0

Banca Progetto 1,055,000 4,50% 30/09/2025 106,971 948,029 0

Banca Progetto 3,445,000 4,50% 30/09/2025 349,425 3,095,575 0

Banca Popolare Emilia 
Romagna

333,297 1,80% 21/11/2022 152,216 181,081 0

Mediocredito Trentino 1,410,142 2,25% 31/12/2025 364,514 1,045,628 0

Banca del Mezzogiorno 755,051 1,80% 31/07/2021 755,051 0 0

Cassa Centrale 3,000,000 1,65% 31/07/2026 0 2,380,080 619,920 

GMB Banca 2,000,000 3,50% 30/06/2025 235,294 1,764,706 0

Total 16,518,366   4,486,566 11,411,880 619,920

14. Provisions for risks and expenses
Provisions for future risks and charges amounted to Euro 1,685,716 (Euro 93,521 at 30/09/2019).
This item’s structure and the changes it underwent during the year are provided and commented on below.

*which also has covenants in place
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Economic assumptions 30/09/2020 30/09/2019

Discount rate 0,12% 0,14%

Provision for future risks

Opening balance 93,521

Additional allocations 181,565

Provisions used -23,370

Closing balance 251,716

30/09/2020

Opening balance 660,144

Net allocations during the year 139,659

IAS 19 adjustment -13,834

Use for staff leaving and/or advances -311,835

Financial charges (interest costs) -7,528

Actuarial gains (losses) -2,729

Closing balance 463,877

Provision for severance & pension liabilities and similar obligations
The “Provision for severance & pension liabilities and similar obligations” amounted to  Euro 251,716 (Euro 93,521 at 
30/09/2019) and represents allocations to the provision for supplementary agents’ indemnity in accordance with IAS 37 
(which states that, if the liability refers to deferred payments over time, it must be discounted using a pre-tax discount rate 
that reflects the current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the liability). This provision 
increases each year to reflect the passing of time, leading to the relative financial expenses also being recorded for the period. 

During the year, the following changes were recorded:

During the year, this standard was applied to the provision for supplementary agents’ indemnity; an actuarial calculation was 
applied to the provision in place at the end of the reporting period which generated a liability that was less than the nominal 
values, for Euro 435,863 (Euro 244,335 in the previous year). The company’s total obligation towards agents was calculated 
by an independent actuary on the basis of the following economic and financial assumptions relating to the parameters involved 
in the calculation:

Provision for future risks
The “Provision for future risks” amounted to Euro 1,434,000 (Euro 0 as of 30/09/2019). This item refers to allocations for a 
number of financial liabilities that are sure to arise in the next financial year, but which were not fully defined at year-end in 
terms of their exact amount; they have therefore been recorded and accounted for pursuant to IAS 37.

15. Staff severance pay and other employee benefits
This item, including the payable for advance tax payments for revaluation, amounted to Euro 463,877 (Euro 660,144 at 
30/09/2019) and underwent the following changes during the year:
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Demographic assumptions Annual inflation
rate

Annual discount
rate

Change 1/4% -1/4% 1/4% -1/4%

Net effect 471,499 456,485 455,048 473,083

Economic assumptions 30/09/2020 30/09/2019 

Annual inflation rate 1,20% 1,50%

Annual discount rate 0,59% 0,47%

Annual salary increase rate 0,50% 0,50%

Demographic assumptions 30/09/2020 30/09/2019 

Probability of death 1% 1%

Turnover 10% 10%

The items “Actuarial gains (losses)” and “Financial charges (interest costs)” are generated by the valuation of the provision 
using the actuarial method and were recalculated as of 1 January 2007. As mentioned above, in accordance with IAS 19, the 
Company records actuarial gains and losses directly under shareholders’ equity.
As already indicated in the section on preparation criteria, following the amendments introduced by Italian Law no. 296 of 27 
December 2006 (“2007 Budget Law”) and the subsequent implementing Decrees and Regulations, only the liability relating 
to the accrued staff severance pay remaining within the company was valued for the purposes of IAS 19, since the amounts 
accrued after 1 January 2007, as a result of the choices made by employees during the first half of 2007, have been paid to a 
separate entity (supplementary pension funds or INPS funds). As a result of these payments, the Company shall no longer have 
obligations connected to the work performed by employees in the future (so-called defined contribution plan).

The Company’s obligation towards employees was calculated by an independent actuary on the basis of the following economic 
and financial assumptions relating to the parameters involved in the calculation:

The calculations made on the basis of the actuarial assumptions updated as of 30 September 2020 resulted in the provision 
being reduced by Euro 13,834 compared with the value as of 30 September 2019, with an offsetting entry being accounted 
for, net of the related tax effect, in the statement of income and expenses recorded under shareholders’ equity, as indicated 
by the reference standard.
The discount rates used for the valuation of liabilities are defined on the basis of the yield curves of high-quality fixed-income 
securities for which the amounts and due-dates correspond to the amounts and due-dates of payments estimated for the bene-
fits. The effect of an increase or decrease of 1/4% to the inflation growth rate and of 1/4% to the discount rate used, with all 
other assumptions remaining the same, would look as follows:

16. Deferred tax liabilities
Deferred tax liabilities amounted to Euro 254,832 (Euro 30,419 at 30/09/2019).
These were calculated on the temporary differences between the values recorded in the financial statements and the correspon-
ding values recognised for tax purposes, on the basis of the rates that can be assumed will be applied at the time when these 
differences will be cancelled out: IRES (corporate income tax) 24% and IRAP (regional income tax) 3.9%.
The breakdown of prepaid taxes and the nature of the items and of the temporary differences that give rise to them are provided 
and commented on below.
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Deferred tax liabilities: details for current year and previous year

Total
30/09/2019

IRES (Corporate 
Income Tax) 

Offsetting item 
in Income 
Statement

Current year

IRAP (Regional 
Income Tax)

Offsetting item 
in Income 
Statement

Current year

Total 
30/09/2020

Delta amortisation on asset improve-
ments

14,905 0 0 14,905

Supplementary agents’ indemnity 15,514 0 0 15,514

Uncollected interest 0 220,433 0 220,433

Benefits after the end of the employ-
ment relationship

0 3,980 0 3,980

Total 30,419 224,413 0 254,832

Deferred tax liabilities: changes

30/09/2019

Increase in 
prepaid/deferred 
taxes recorded 
in the Income 
Statement for 

the year

Decreases in 
prepaid/deferred 

taxes recorded in the
 Income Statement 

for the year

30/09/2020

Supplementary agents’ indemnity 15,513 0 0 15,513

Delta amortisation on asset improve-
ments

14,,905 0 0 14,,905

Interest 0 220,433 0 220,433

Benefits after the end of the employ-
ment relationship

0 3,980 0 3,980

Total 30,419 224,413 0 254,832

CURRENT LIABILITIES
17. Current financial liabilities
These amounted to Euro 42,344,314 (Euro 31,349,830 at 30/09/2019). Payables due within one year may be broken down 
as follows:

30/09/2020 30/09/2019

Bank loans 42,344,314 31,349,830

Total 42,344,314 31,349,830
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Trade payables broken down by geographical area

Payables to third parties Italy EU Non-EU Total

Credit notes to be received -3,671,060 0 0 -3,671,060

Suppliers 77,472,931 7,672,604 204,010 85,349,545

Invoices to be received 25,030,754 2,542,850 3,235,424 30,789,028

Total 98,832,625 10,215,454 3,439,434 112,487,513

30/09/2020 30/09/2019

IRES (corporate income tax) 3,794,717 1,115,661

IRAP (regional income tax) 854,839 312,606

Employee withholding taxes 216,130 104,804

Independent contractor withholding taxes 6,727 45,546

Other tax payables 12,527,809 4,046,925

Total 17,400,253 5,625,542

30/09/2020 30/09/2019

Due from subsidiaries 1,268,826 59,253

Due to parent companies 73,914 32,914

Due from third parties 110,264,391 280,543,744

Total trade payables 112,487,513 280,635,911

With the exception of fees and loan amounts due within 12 months, the item “loans” refers to the use of credit lines to “un-
freeze” trade receivables by opening a credit line on the bank account, i.e. advances on invoice amounts.

17. Current tax liabilities
Current tax liabilities amounted to Euro 17,400,253 (Euro 5,625,542 at 30/09/2019).
Their structure is provided and commented on below.

The IRES and IRAP payable corresponds to the payable generated by the calculation of current taxes for the year, net of ad-
vances paid.
The item “Other tax payables” mainly includes Euro 10,468,752 for excise duties and electricity and gas surcharges referring 
to 2020.

19. Trade payables
Trade payables amounted to Euro 112,487,513 (Euro 280,635,911 at 30/09/2019) and are recorded in the financial sta-
tements net of any trade and cash discounts indicated in the invoice; their nominal value has been adjusted, in the event of 
invoicing adjustments, by the corresponding amount agreed with the counterparty.
The composition of and distinction between current and non-current amounts are shown below:
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Other liabilities – breakdown 

30/09/2020 30/09/2019

Payables to employees 820,934 685,653

Payables to social security institutions 587,727 341,579

Payables to directors 33,896 28,490

Accrued liabilities and deferred income 1,439,834 457,330

Other payables 5,215,641 1,514,212

Total 8,098,032 3,027,264

These payables are all to be considered current.
For details about the significant decrease to this item, please refer to point 9 - Trade receivables.

Payables due to subsidiaries
These are recorded in the financial statements for an amount equal to Euro 1,268,826 (Euro 59,253 in the previous year), net 
of any trade and cash discounts indicated in the invoice. 
These payables are all due by the end of the next financial year. There are no payables due to subsidiaries recorded in the 
financial statements that are due after the end of next year.

Payables due to the parent company
These are recorded in the financial statements for an amount equal to Euro 73,914 (Euro 32,914 in the previous year), net of 
any trade and cash discounts indicated in the invoice. 

20. Other liabilities
Other liabilities amounted to Euro 8,098,032 (Euro 3,027,264 at 30/09/2019).
The structure and details of accrued liabilities are presented and commented on below.

Payables to social security institutions mainly increased due to payables linked to ongoing agency agreements; this amount was 
significantly higher than in the previous year.

The item “Accrued liabilities and deferred income” refers to charges for the year that have not yet involved a cash outlay, and 
mainly comprise Euro 490,186 for contributions to be paid to ARERA and maintenance charges invoiced in advance for Euro 
341,566.
The item “Other payables” mainly refers to the payable due to end consumers for energy and gas security deposits paid to 
activate utilities, equal to Euro 2,239,495 (Euro 1,080,903 as of 30/09/2019); this amount is closely linked to the customer 
base.

Commitments and contingent liabilities
Commitments
As of 30 September 2020, the Company had commitments and guarantees in place amounting to a total of Euro 16,764,303 
(Euro 15,420,028 at 30/09/2019), broken down as follows: 
• Sureties issued to electricity suppliers for Euro 7,050,000 compared with 7,550,000 in the year ending 30/09/2019;
• Sureties issued to gas suppliers for Euro 1,853,166 compared with Euro 1,388,811 in the year ending 30/09/2019;
• Sureties issued to customs offices for Euro 796,000, with no changes being recorded compared with the previous year;
• Sureties issued for the purchase of energy on the electricity stock exchange and on the IDEX market for Euro 1,000,000, the 
same amount as was recorded for the year ending 30/09/2019;
• Sureties issued for ancillary services for electricity and gas purchases (transport, dispatching, etc.) for Euro 1,508,013 com-
pared with Euro 1,522,807 in the year ending 30/09/2019;
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30/09/2020 30/09/2019

Revenues from sales of goods 603,190,950 954,280,404

Fair value of derivatives 1,325,789 -9,552,467

Revenues from service provision 19,853,916 32,675,036

Total 624,370,655 977,402,973

30/09/2020 30/09/2019

Italy 474,956,113 905,351,315

Other EU countries 148,259,476 72,051,658

Non-EU countries 1,154,637 0

Total 624,370,655 977,402,973

• Sureties issued in favour of group companies for Euro 4,177,047 compared with Euro 2,369,837 in the year ending 
30/09/2019;
• Sureties issued to fibre suppliers equal to Euro 359,123, with no changes being recorded compared with the previous year;
• Sureties issued to photovoltaic energy suppliers equal to Euro 0 compared with Euro 311,767 in the year ending 30/09/2019;
• Other guarantees for Euro 20,953 (Euro 121,683 as of 30/09/2019) referring to gas supply services.

Please find below the details of the sureties issued in favour of group companies for a total of  Euro 4,177,047 (Euro 
2,369,837 as of 30/09/2019):
LE Trading AS for Euro 4,000,000:
- Euro 1,200,000 for a surety to open a line of credit;
- Euro 2,800,000 as a guarantee for contractual obligations.
E-nergia Gas & Power S.r.l. (Romania) Euro 127,047 as a guarantee for contractual obligations (purchase of electricity and 
gas);
E-nergia  Gas & Power D.o.o. (Slovenia) Euro 50,000 as a guarantee to open a local bank account.

It is acknowledged that a deed of pledge was signed on 8 June 2019, through which the parent company, Europe Energy 
Holding S.r.l., established a right of pledge on share certificate no. 23, representing 3,500,000 shares with a total nominal 
value of Euro 3,500,000 and equal to 70% of the company’s share capital in favour of Unicredit S.p.A., as a guarantee on the 
receivables for the loan of Euro 5,468,929 granted, with a residual payable to date of Euro 1,654,125.
This pledge restricts the distribution of dividends.

Part F
Information on the Income Statement
Analysis of items
Before we proceed to analyse the individual items, please note that comments on the general trend of costs and revenues, as 
required by the first paragraph of Article 2428 of the Italian Civil Code, are provided in the Management Report.
The analytical presentation of the positive and negative income items in the Income Statement and the preceding comments 
about items in the statement of financial position allow us to limit the below comments to the main items only.

21. Revenues from sales and services
Revenues from sales and services amounted to Euro 624,370,655 (Euro 977,402,973 in the previous year).
Their structure is provided and commented on below.

The change in revenues is due to the reasons indicated in the Management Report.
Please find below the breakdown by geographical area:
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30/09/2020 30/09/2019

Other revenues from the parent company 1,500 1,500

Capital gains 290,700 0

Rebates and rounding 1,664 133

Ordinary non-recurring income 772,072 728,626

Other revenues 146,664 249,024

Total 1,212,600 979,283

22. Other revenues and income
Other revenues and income amounted to Euro 1,212,600 (Euro 979,283 in the previous year).
Their structure is provided and commented on below.

Operating costs

23. Cost of raw materials, consumables and goods
Raw materials and consumables used amounted to Euro 580,888,486 (Euro 946,948,169 in the previous year).
Their structure is provided and commented on below.

Cost dynamics substantially reflect revenue dynamics.

24. Other operating costs
Other operating costs can be broken down as follows and details are provided below:

Costs for services
Costs for services amounted to Euro 19,738,356 (Euro 13,752,860 in the previous year).
Their structure is provided and commented on below.

30/09/2020 30/09/2019

Raw, ancillary and consumable materials 580,241,384 945,917,484

Changes in inventories of raw, ancillary and consumable 
materials

647,102 1,030,634

Total 580,888,486 946,948,169

30/09/2020 30/09/2019

Costs for services 19,738,356 13,752,860

Costs for use of third-party assets 372,245 462,268

Miscellaneous operating expenses 3,908,698 844,499

Total 24,019,300 15,059,627
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Costs for use of third-party assets 30/09/2020 30/09/2019

Rent payable 164,416 211,878

Equipment, furniture lease fees 92,332 28,156

Car lease and rental fees 216,442 222,234

IFRS 16 recognition -100,945 0

Total 372,245 462,268

30/09/2020 30/09/2019

Transport 38,605 5,432

Utilities (water, gas, electricity) 13,771 28,761

Maintenance 1,119,768 1,170,231

Technical and legal consulting 3,513,359 2,431,797

Directors’ fees 572,258 615,165

Statutory auditors’ fees 54,120 58,600

Independent audit firm’s fees 96,687 65,677

Services similar to work carried out by employees 36,944 7,600

Commissions payable 6,681,219 5,875,907

Advertising 5,205,035 1,334,652

Telephone and postal charges 298,872 86,659

Insurance 525,756 418,347

Entertainment expenses 19,775 34,182

Business trips and transfers 88,226 208,055

Training and refresher courses 29,243 36,951

Other costs for services 1,444,716 1,374,844

Total 19,738,356 13,752,860

A notable cost increase refers to the impact of the promotional campaigns implemented for the first time, which go together 
with significant investments made to consolidate the Withu brand on the market (based on accounting standards, these costs 
are not capitalised).

Costs for use of third-party assets
Costs for the use of third-party assets amounted to Euro 372,245 (Euro 462,268 in the previous year).
Their structure is provided and commented on below.

This item is mainly made up of rent payable for the registered office in Milan, for the operational headquarters in Brescia and, 
until April 2020, for the offices in S. Martino Buon Albergo, Padua and Marcon (VE).

Miscellaneous operating expenses
Miscellaneous operating expenses amounted to Euro 3,908,699 (Euro 844,499 in the previous year).
Their structure is provided and commented on below.
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30/09/2020 30/09/2019

Stamp duties, levies and other taxes 750,240 198,239

Non-recurring losses and downward adjustment of income 2,825,757 376,533

Other miscellaneous expenses 332,702 269,727

Total 3,908,699 844,499

30/09/2020 30/09/2019

Salaries and wages 3,592,063 4,059,032

Social security contributions 1,167,711 1,339,525

Staff severance indemnity 218,124 263,355

Other costs 307,507 361,216

Total 5,285,406 6,023,129

Non-recurring losses, with an almost identical counter-entry under sales revenues, therefore do not affect margin performance; 
these refer to adjustments that are normally set aside based on the net value.

25. Personnel costs
Personnel costs amounted to Euro 5,285,406 (Euro 6,023,129 in the previous year).

30.09.2020 30.09.2019 Change

Labour cost No. of 
employees 

Average no. 
employees Labour cost No. of 

employees 
Average no. 
employees Labour cost No. of 

employees 
Average no. 
employees

5,285,406 72 80 6,023,129 88 78,5 -737,723 -16 1,5

The following table shows workforce turnover by type of role:

 30.09.2019 Incoming Outgoing 30.09.2020 Average 
number

Senior managers 4 1 -12 5 3,5

Junior managers 16 3 -4 15 15,5

Office workers 68 18 -32 54 61

Total 88 22 -38 72 80
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30/09/2020 30/09/2019

Depreciation of tangible assets and amortisation of 
intangible assets

7,735,008 2,744,790

Provisions for risks 1,410,630 0

Credit impairment provision 2,990,616 1,697,095

Total 12,136,254 4,441,885

30/09/2020 30/09/2019

Depreciation of tangible assets 274,096 94,330

Amortisation of intangible assets 7,460,912 2,650,460

Total 7,735,008 2,744,790

30/09/2020 30/09/2019

Property and improvements 44,298 32,953

Plant and equipment 6,357 20,729

Vehicles 89,953 433

Other Property, Plant and Equipment 133,488 53,187

Total 274,096 94,330

30/09/2020 30/09/2019

Patents, Trademarks and Other Rights 117,975 50,404

Software 165,957 89,100

Customer list 7,176,980 2,510,956

Total 7,460,912 2,650,460

26. Amortisation, depreciation, write-downs and other provisions
This item is made up of:

Depreciation of tangible assets and amortisation of intangible assets
Amortisation and depreciation amounted to Euro 7,735,008 (Euro 2,744,790 in the previous year), made up of the following:

Depreciation of tangible assets
Depreciation of tangible assets amounted to Euro 274,096 (Euro 94,330 in the previous year).
Their structure is provided and commented on below.

Amortisation of intangible assets
Amortisation of intangible assets amounted to Euro 7,460,912 (Euro 2,650,460 in the previous year).
Their structure is provided and commented on below.
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Allocation to the provision 
during the reporting period

Allocation to the provision 
during the previous year

Allocation to the credit impairment provision 1,789,911 1,397,095

Allocation to the taxed credit impairment provision 1,200,000 300,000

Credit losses 705 0

Total 2,990,616 1,697,095

Provisions for risks
Provisions net for risks amounted to Euro 1,410,630 (Euro 0 as of 30/09/2019). This item refers principally to allocations for 
a number of financial liabilities that are sure to arise in the next financial year, but which were not fully defined at year-end in 
terms of their exact amount; they have therefore been recorded and accounted for pursuant to IAS 37.

Credit impairment provision
The provision made for credit impairment during the reporting period may be broken down as follows and is commented on 
under paragraph 6. Trade receivables:

27. Net financial income / (expenses)
Net financial income and expenses amounted to Euro -603,733 (Euro -870,033 in the previous year) and refer to the financial 
relationships in place.

28. Financial income (expenses) from group companies and associated companies
Financial income amounted to Euro 768,416 (Euro 428,292 in the previous year).
Their structure is provided and commented on below.

29. Tax expenses (income)
Income tax expenses / (income) amounted to Euro 2,136,959 (Euro 2,031,818 in the previous year).
This item’s structure, the changes it underwent during the year and other relevant information are provided below:

30/09/2020 30/09/2019

Financial income from Group companies

From subsidiaries 527,498 212,870

From associated companies 216,571 190,948

From parent companies 24,345 24,474

Total income 768,416 428,292

Details of tax expenses / (income):

30/09/2020 30/09/2019

IRES (corporate income tax) 2,929,427 1,829,380

IRAP (regional income tax) 542,233 415,513

Net prepaid / deferred taxes -1,344,701 -213,075

Total 2,136,959 2,031,818
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 % % Taxable income Tax

Deferred tax assets 2020 2021
Balance as at 
30/09/2019

Incr. Decr.
Balance as at 

30.09.20
Balance as at 

30.09.19
Incr. Decr.

Balance as at 
30.09.20

Write-down of 
securities

24 24 833,868 0 0 833,868 200,129 0 0 200,129

Unpaid 
Directors’ fees

24 24 49,411 61,067 -49,411 61,067 11,857 14,656 -11,857 14,656

Credit 
impairment

24 24 300,000 1,200,000 0 1,500,000 312,000 288,000 0 600,000

Amortisation of 
customer list

27,9 27,9 1,462,544 4,529,326 0 5,991,870 408,050 1,263,682 0 1,671,732

Benefits after 
the end of the 
employment 
relationship

24 24 20,211 0 0 20,211 17,565 655 -11,377 6,841

Total   2,666,034 5,790,393 -49,411 8,407,016 949,601 1,566,993 -23,236 2,493,357

 % % Taxable income Tax

Deferred tax liabilities 2020 2021
Balance as at

30.09.19
Incr. Decr.

Balance as at 
30.09.20

Balance as at 
30.09.19

Incr. Decr.
Balance as at 

30.09.20

Delta amortisation 
on asset 
improvements

27,9 27,9 53,423 0 0 53,423 14,905 0 0 14,905

Supplementary 
agents’ indemnity 
IAS37

27,9 27,9 64,641 0 0 64,641 15,514 0 0 15,514

Interest 24 24 0 918,469 0 918,469 0 220,433 0 220,433

Benefits after 
the end of the 
employment 
relationship

24 24 0 0 0 0 0 3,980 0 3,980

Total   118,064 918,469 0 1,036,533 30,419 224,413 0 254,832

Net deferred tax assets

Net deferred tax liabilities
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IRES (corporate income tax)   

Profit before taxes 3,561,137

Theoretical tax burden (24%) 854,673

TEMPORARY DIFFERENCES taxable in following years

Directors’ fees paid after 30.09.2020 61,067

Interest above 0.40% and deferment

Allocations to risk provisions

Interest 

Total 61,067

TEMPORARY DIFFERENCES FROM PREVIOUS YEARS CARRIED FORWARD:

Directors’ fees paid after 30.09.2019 -49,411

Annulment of the credit impairment provision from the previous year

Total -49,411

DIFFERENCES THAT WILL NOT BE REVERSED IN SUBSEQUENT YEARS:

default interest not collected -918,469

TOTAL -906,469

Increases

Non-deductible or unpaid taxes 204,375

Taxed credit impairment provision 1,200,000

Losses on credits < 2.500E 1,091,602

Allocation to risk provision 1,434,000

Non-deductible vehicle expenses 115,258

Non-relevant costs 3,730

Non-deductible amortisation 4,529,326

Contingent liabilities 698,470

Other increases 816,571

Total increases 10,093,332

Variazioni in diminuzione

IRAP relating to personnel costs -13,338

10% IRAP (higher between paid and chargeable regional income tax) 0

‘Pex’ gain/loss -275,500

Donations -2,500

Statement of reconciliation between the tax burden shown in the financial statements and the theoretical 
tax burden
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Contingent assets -250,371

Total decreases -541,709

TAXABLE INCOME 12,205,947

Current taxes on income for the year 2,929,427

IRAP (regional income tax)   

Value of production 13,083,147

Theoretical tax burden (3.9%) 510,243

TEMPORARY DIFFERENCES TAXABLE IN FOLLOWING YEARS:

Total 0  

TEMPORARY DIFFERENCES FROM PREVIOUS YEARS CARRIED FORWARD:

Total 0  

DIFFERENCES THAT WILL NOT BE REVERSED IN SUBSEQUENT YEARS:

Increases   

Directors’ fees and INPS contributions (excluding remuneration to 
holders of VAT numbers)

609,202

Municipal Property Tax 5,169

Other increases 797,511

Non-relevant costs 50,682

Contingent liabilities 82,375

Amortisation of customer list 4,529,326

Total increases 6,074,265

Decreases   

Contingent assets -250,371

‘Pex’ gain/loss -275,500

IRAP deduction for increase in newly hired employees and/or tax 
wedge

-4,728,142

Total decreases -5,254,013

IRAP TAXABLE INCOME 13,903,399

Current IRAP for the year 542,233
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 Type of instrument at 30.09.2020 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total

Financial assets for derivative contracts 5,526,215 0 0 5,526,215

Type of instrument at 30.09.2019 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total

Financial assets for derivative contracts 4,200,426 0 0 4,200,426

Part G
Risk management and other information
Please find below the additional information required by the IAS/IFRS, SIC/IFRIC interpretative documents, the bulletins and 
resolutions issued by the Consob (Italian Commission for Companies and the Stock Exchange) and Italian legislation, with 
reference to the applicable rules of the Italian Civil Code and other measures adopted by the national legislature, which are 
discussed in the Management Report, to which reference should be made.

Risk management
With regard to market, credit and liquidity risks, please refer to the Management Report attached hereto.
Information on financial risks
IFRS 13 requires financial instruments to be valued at their fair value, calculated based on the quality of the sources used to 
calculate said fair value. 
The aforementioned IFRS 13 classification implies a “hierarchy of fair value” divided into three levels that give priority, when 
measuring the fair value, to the use of objective market information as opposed to specific information, establishing three levels 
for said fair value measurement, based on the nature of the input used to value an asset or liability at the measurement date. 
This hierarchy of fair value measurement is defined as follows:
- Level 1: fair value calculation based on the listed (unadjusted) prices on active markets of identical assets or liabilities. This 
category includes the instruments that the Company uses to operate directly on active markets or on over-the-counter markets 
that represent identical assets compared to corresponding organised markets (e.g. futures);
- Level 2: fair value calculation based on valuation models that use input that can be observed on active markets (other than 
the listed prices included in level 1 that can be both directly and indirectly observed). This category includes the instruments 
that the Company uses to operate on Over-the-Counter markets not characterised by a sufficient level of liquidity or that do not 
express a market price continuously (e.g. OTC formula hedges);
- Level 3: fair value calculation based on valuation models whose input is not based on observable market data, neither directly 
nor indirectly (unobservable input) on any active market.
For level 1 fair value assessments, it is essential to have a price on an active market for an instrument that is identical to the 
one being valued. Based on the indications of IAS 39, a financial instrument is regarded as being listed on an active market if: 
- the listed prices are readily and regularly available through a price list, operator, broker, industry sector, pricing agency or 
regulatory authority;
- these prices represent actual market transactions that regularly occur under normal trading conditions. 
- Certain characteristics may be symptomatic of an inactive market. These include:
- a significant drop in volumes and number of trades;
- or prices that vary considerably over time and between market participants.
However, it should be noted that these factors, when considered individually, may not indicate that a market is inactive. The-
refore, to assume that a price is listed on an active market, the following must be present: 
- recent transactions that occur with a certain degree of regularity with reference to financial instruments that are identical to 
those being valued;
- prices for such transactions that are promptly and regularly available.
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Description
Latest available financial 

statements as of 
30.09.2019

Latest available financial 
statements as of 

30.09.2018

BALANCE SHEET   

ASSETS   

B) Fixed assets 8,511,763 8,497,576

C) Working capital 548,499 306,781

D) Accruals and deferrals 479 4,231

Total Assets 9,060,741 8,808,588

LIABILITIES:

    Share capital 1,908,730 1,908,730

    Reserves 5,644,099 5,633,598

    Profit (loss) for the year 70,517 10,501

B) Provisions for risks and charges 0 0

C) Employee severance indemnity 0 0

D) Payables 1,437,395 1,255,759

E) Accruals and deferrals 0 0

Total liabilities

INCOME STATEMENT

A) Value of production 383,412 172,865

B) Production costs -218,813 -135,462

C) Financial income / (expenses) -23,965 -22,451

D) Value adjustments to financial assets 0 0

E) Extraordinary income and expenses 0 0

Income tax for the year -70,117 -4,451

Profit (loss) for the year 70,517 10,501

Miscellaneous information
Lease agreements
There are no future payments for non-cancellable lease commitments at 30/09/2020.

Information pursuant to Art. 2497-bis, paragraph 4, of the Italian Civil Code
Pursuant to Art. 2497-bis, paragraph 4, of the Italian Civil Code, it should be noted that the Company is managed and coordi-
nated by Europe Energy Holding S.r.l., a company with registered office in Milan, Via Fratelli Gabba no. 6, tax code and VAT no. 
06616800964, Share Capital Euro 1,908,730 fully paid-up. Please find below the figures from said company’s last financial 
statements, as of 30.09.2019, drawn up in accordance with Italian Accounting Standards:
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Amount

Board of statutory auditors 54,120

Board of directors 572,258

Amount

Audit* 96,687

Relations with parent companies, subsidiaries, associated companies and related parties
All transactions with related parties can be classed as ordinary business operations and are governed by standard market con-
ditions, i.e. under the same conditions that would apply between two independent parties. For further details, please refer to 
the tables provided in the Management Report.

Remuneration for corporate bodies and the independent audit firm
Remuneration for corporate bodies
The following table provides the information on directors and statutory auditors, in accordance with  Art. 2427, point 16, of 
the Italian Civil Code

Remuneration for the independent audit firm
The table below provides the information required by Art. 149-duodecies of the Consob Issuers’ Regulation.

* includes the audit of the separate annual accounts (‘unbundling’) prepared for the Italian Electricity and Gas Authority 
(“AEEG”) and out-of-pocket expenses.

Significant events after the reporting date 
There are no significant events after the reporting date for these financial statements other than those already indicated in the 
relative section of the Management Report.

Over the course of the year, the Company did not receive any subsidies, grants, paid positions or any economic benefits as 
referred to by Italian Law no. 124/14 (Art. 1, paragraph 125).

Conclusions
On the basis of the information provided herein, we hereby propose the approval of the financial statements as of 30.09.2020 
and propose to allocate the profit for the year, equal to Euro 1,424,179 to the extraordinary reserve, as the legal reserve has 
reached the maximum amount permitted by the Italian Civil Code.
Finally, please note that there were no significant effects on the result for the year caused by seasonal business trends or by 
significant, non-recurring events.

Milan, 19 February 2021

The Chair of the Board of Directors
(Matteo Ballarin)
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Independent  auditor ’s repor t  pursuant  to ar t icle 14 of Legislat ive
Decree n. 39, dated 27 January 2010
(Translat ion from t he original Italian text)

To the sole Shareholder of
Europe Energy S.p.A.

Report  on the Audit  of t he Financial Statements

Opinion
We have audited the financial statements of Europe Energy S.p.A. (the Company), which comprise the
statement of financial posit ion as at 30 September 2020, and the statement of income, the statement
of comprehensive income, statement of changes in equity and statement of cash flows for the year
then ended, and notes to the financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting
policies.

In our opinion, the financial statements give a true and fair view of the financial posit ion of the
Company as at 30 September 2020, and of its financial performance and its cash flows for the year
then ended in accordance with Internat ional Financial Report ing Standards as adopted by the
European Union.

Basis for Opinion
We conducted our audit  in accordance with Internat ional Standards on Audit ing (ISA Italia). Our
responsibilit ies under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilit ies for the
Audit  of the Financial Statements section of our report.
We are independent of the Company in accordance with the regulations and standards on ethics and
independence applicable to audits of financial statements under Italian Laws. We believe that  the audit
evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Other mat ters
The financial statements of Europe Energy S.p.A. for the year ended 30 September 2019 were audited
by another auditor who expressed an unmodified opinion on those statements on 14 May 2020.

As required by the law, the explanatory notes include the condensed financial information of the ent ity
that exercises management and coordinat ion over the Company. Such financial information has not
been audited by us.

Responsibilit ies of Directors and Those Charged with Governance for the Financial
Statements
The Directors are responsible for the preparat ion of the financial statements that give a true and fair
view in accordance with Internat ional Financial Reporting Standards as adopted by the European
Union, and, within the terms provided by the law, for such internal control as they determine is
necessary to enable the preparat ion of financial statements that  are free from material misstatement,
whether due to fraud or error.
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The Directors are responsible for assessing the Company’s ability to cont inue as a going concern and,
when preparing the financial statements, for the appropriateness of the going concern assumption,
and for appropriate disclosure thereof. The Directors prepare the financial statements on a going
concern basis unless they either intend to liquidate the Company or to cease operat ions, or have no
realist ic alternat ive but to do so.

The statutory audit  committee (“Collegio Sindacale” ) is responsible, within the terms provided by the
law, for overseeing the Company’s financial report ing process.

Auditor’s Responsibilit ies for the Audit  of the Financial Statements
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report
that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee
that an audit  conducted in accordance with Internat ional Standards on Auditing (ISA Italia) will always
detect a material misstatement when it  exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are
considered material if, individually or in aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the
economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial statements.

As part of an audit  in accordance with Internat ional Standards on Audit ing (ISA Italia), we have
exercised professional judgment and maintained professional skept icism throughout the audit . In
addit ion:

 we have ident if ied and assessed the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements,
whether due to fraud or error, designed and performed audit  procedures responsive to those
risks, and obtained audit  evidence that  is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our
opinion. The risk of not detect ing a material misstatement result ing from fraud is higher than
for one result ing from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intent ional omissions,
misrepresentat ions, or the override of internal control;

 we have obtained an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit  in order to design
audit  procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of
expressing an opinion on the effect iveness of the Company’s internal control;

 we have evaluated the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of
accounting est imates and related disclosures made by the Directors;

 we have concluded on the appropriateness of Directors’ use of the going concern basis of
accounting and, based on the audit  evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists
related to events or condit ions that  may cast significant doubt  on the Company’s ability to
continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required
to draw attent ion in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the financial statements
or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to consider this matter in forming our opinion. Our
conclusions are based on the audit  evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report.
However, future events or condit ions may cause the Company to cease to cont inue as a going
concern;

 we have evaluated the overall presentat ion, st ructure and content of the financial statements,
including the disclosures, and whether the financial statements represent the underlying
transact ions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentat ion.

We have communicated with those charged with governance, ident if ied at an appropriate level as
required by ISA Italia, regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and t iming of the audit  and
significant audit  f indings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we ident ify
during our audit .



89

Report  on compliance with other legal and regulatory requirements

Opinion pursuant to art icle 14, paragraph 2, subparagraph e), of Legislat ive Decree
n. 39 dated 27 January 2010
The Directors of Europe Energy S.p.A. are responsible for the preparat ion of the Management Report
of Europe Energy S.p.A. as at 30 September 2020, including its consistency with the related financial
statements and its compliance with the applicable laws and regulat ions.

We have performed the procedures required under audit  standard SA Italia n. 720B, in order to express
an opinion on the consistency of the Report on Operations, with the financial statements of Europe
Energy S.p.A. as at 30 September 2020 and on its compliance with the applicable laws and
regulations, and in order to assess whether it  contains material misstatements.

In our opinion, the Management Report is consistent with the financial statements of Europe Energy
S.p.A. as at 30 September 2020 and comply with the applicable laws and regulations.

With reference to the statement required by art . 14, paragraph 2, subparagraph e), of Legislat ive
Decree n. 39, dated 27 January 2010, based on our knowledge and understanding of the ent ity and its
environment obtained through our audit , we have no matters to report.

Brescia, February 22, 2021

EY S.p.A.
Signed by: Andrea Barchi, Auditor

This report has been translated into the English language solely for the convenience of
international readers.
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